

University of Ioannina

Biochemistry Laboratory, Department of Biological Applications & Technology Biomedical Research Institute - Foundation for Research and Technology Hellas (BRI-FORTH) Ioannina, Greece

Διιδρυματικό Διατμηματικό Πρόγραμμα Μεταπτυχιακών Σπουδών «Μοριακή-Κυτταρική Βιολογία και Βιοτεχνολογία»

# How mitochondria shape Early Life Experiences: the case of Early Handling

Μεταπτυχιακή Διπλωματική Διατριβή Θώμου Χριστίνα Βιολόγος <u>Επιβλέπουσα</u>: Φίλιου Μιχαέλα, Αναπληρώτρια Καθηγήτρια Βιοχημείας, Τμήμα Βιολογικών Εφαρμογών και Τεχνολογιών, Πανεπιστήμιο Ιωαννίνων Ιωάννινα 2023

#### **Acknowledgments**

The present master thesis was carried out at the Biochemistry Laboratory of the Department of Biological Applications and Technology, University of Ioannina and the Biomedical Research Institute, FORTH during the academic year 2022-2023, under the supervision of Associate Professor Dr. Filiou Michaela.

For this hard work, first and foremost, I would like to offer my special thanks and gratitude to my supervisor Dr. Filiou Michaela for her trust and mentorship at every stage of this research project. I am grateful for her willingness to assist me and for helping me be a better scientist. Also, I would like to thank the rest of my thesis committee: Prof. Frilingos Stathis, Assistant Prof. Liakopoulos Dimitris, Assistant Prof. Leontaritis George as well as Assistant Prof. Lamprakakis Charalambos for accepting to be members of my thesis committee and for evaluating my effort.

Of course, my heartful thanks to the members of the Biochemistry Lab. Laboratory Teaching Staff Dr. Konidaris Constantinos, Postdoctoral Researcher Dr. Komini Chrysoula and Postdoctoral Researcher Dr. Vlaikou Angeliki-Maria for always being there for me and supported me with their invaluable advice. I would also like to thank Research Technician Mr. Nussbaumer Markus for helping me with the needed literature and for sharing his knowledge. Moreover, I would like to thank Diploma Thesis Student Grammenou Elena for her help and guidance at the beginning of this thesis. My special thanks to PhD Student Papageorgiou Maria as well as Diploma Thesis Student Zilaki Aikaterini, for the countless hours that we shared laughing in the lab and for their friendship throughout this whole year! Finally, it's been said that people make a place, therefore, I could not forget to thank all members of the Cellular and Developmental Biology Lab headed by Associate Prof. Marangos Petros, Dr. Niaka Konstantina, PhD Student Ipeirotis Marios, PhD Student Zorzompokou Chrysoula and Diploma Thesis Student Martzoukos Marios for their help but also for the great discussions!

Finally, I owe a huge debt of thanks to my parents, my family, my friends and my partner for their pure love and support even when I doubted myself! Nothing would have been possible without them and I hope this result makes them proud!

# Table of Contents

Acknowledgments1
Περίληψη4
Abstract5
Abbreviations list6
1. Introduction9
1.1 The importance of early life experiences in shaping adult phenotypes9
1.2 What is Early Handling (EH)?10
1.3 Anxiety and anxiety disorders11
1.4 Brain areas for the study of anxiety12
1.5 The High Anxiety-Related Behavior (HAB) animal model14
1.6 Mitochondria16
1.6.1 Mitochondrial structure and function
1.6.2 Mitochondrial dynamics19
1.6.3 Mitochondria and anxiety22
1.6.4 Mitochondria-targeted therapeutics23
2. Aim of the study26
3. Materials and methods27
3.1 Animals27
3.2 Early handling (EH) protocol27
3.3 Protein extraction28
3.4 Bradford Assay29
3.5 Western blot29
3.6 Total antioxidant capacity (TAC)
3.7 Carbonylation assay34
3.8 RNA extraction
3.9 <i>qRT-PCR</i>
3.10 Statistical analysis
4. Results41
4.1 Prefrontal cortex42
4.1.1 EH did not alter mRNA levels of mitochondrial dynamics-related genes in the prefronta
cortex
4.1.2 mRNA levels do not significantly correlate with DaLi parameters in the prefrontal cortex
of EH HAB male mice44
4.1.3 The amount of carbonylated proteins correlates with DaLi parameters in the prefrontal
cortex of HAB EH male mice44
4.2 Hippocampus46

4.2.1 EH did not affect the OXPHOS protein levels in the hippocampus of HAB EH male	
.mice46	
4.2.2 EH did not affect protein levels of glycolysis, energy metabolism, transport, antioxida	nt
defense or neurotransmission pathways in the hippocampus of HAB male mice47	
4.2.3 No mitochondrial dynamics changes in response to EH in the hippocampus of HAB ma	ale
mice49	
4.2.4 Protein expression correlates with DaLi behavioral parameters in the hippocampus of	HAB
male mice51	
4.2.5 EH alters <i>slc25a46</i> mRNA levels in hippocampus of HAB male mice52	
4.2.6 mRNA expression levels correlate with DaLi behavioral parameters in the hippocampu	ıs of
HAB EH male mice54	
4.2.7 TAC correlates with DaLi behavioral parameters in the hippocampus of EH HAB male	
mice55	
4.3 Hypothalamus57	
4.3.1 EH significantly altered PKLR protein levels in mouse hypothalamus57	
4.3.2 EH affects the protein levels of mitochondrial dynamics mediators in the hypothalam	us of
HAB EH male mice60	
4.3.3 Protein expression correlates with DaLi behavioral parameters in the hypothalamus of	F
HAB EH mice62	
4.3.4 EH alters <i>tfam</i> mRNA levels in HAB EH male mice hypothalamus63	
4.3.5 mRNA expression levels do not correlate with DaLi behavioral parameters in the	
hypothalamus of HAB EH male mice66	
4.3.6 EH does not alter TAC levels in the hypothalamus of HAB EH male mice67	
5. Discussion	
5.1 EH studies in the literature70	
5.2 EH affects protein expression levels of HAB EH male mice in a brain region-specific	
manner	
5.3 EH affects the mRNA levels of mediators for mitochondrial dynamics79	
5.4 TAC and carbonylation levels correlate with DaLi behavioral parameters in HAB EH male	
mice	
5.5 Summary of the study82	
5.6 Limitations of the study and future perspectives	
6. References	

## <u>Περίληψη</u>

Οι εξωγενείς παρεμβάσεις στα πρώιμα στάδια της ζωής μελετώνται σε τρωκτικά για να διερευνηθεί ποιά είναι η επίδρασή τους κατά την ενηλικίωση. Ο πρώιμος χειρισμός (early handling / EH) είναι μια παρέμβαση της πρώιμης ζωής που περιλαμβάνει τον σύντομο και επαναλαμβανόμενο αποχωρισμό των νεογνών από τη μητέρα τους τις πρώτες ημέρες μετά τη γέννηση και έχει αποδειχθεί ότι επάγει ευεργετικά αποτελέσματα στην ενήλικη ζωή. Ωστόσο, το ποιές είναι οι επιδράσεις του ΕΗ σε ένα υπόβαθρο υψηλού άγχους και το πώς τα μιτοχόνδρια ρυθμίζουν αυτές τις επιδράσεις δεν έχουν διερευνηθεί. Για να μελετήσουμε αυτά τα ερωτήματα, χρησιμοποιήσαμε ένα μοντέλο ποντικιών υψηλού (HAB) και φυσιολογικού άγχους (NAB). Προηγούμενα πειράματα του εργαστηρίου έδειξαν ότι το ΕΗ επάγει αγχολυτικά αποτελέσματα σε ενήλικα αρσενικά ΗΑΒ ποντίκια και αλλάζει τα επίπεδα mRNA γονιδίων στον προμετωπιαίο φλοιό που σχετίζονται με τη μιτοχονδριακή δυναμική, η οποία αφορά στις διαδικασίες της μιτοχονδριακής βιογένεσης, σχάσης, σύντηξης και μιτοφαγίας. Στόχος στην παρούσα διατριβή ήταν να συνεχίσουμε τον μοριακό χαρακτηρισμό των επιδράσεων ΕΗ στα μιτοχόνδρια, τόσο στον προμετωπιαίο φλοιό αλλά και στον υποθάλαμο και τον ιππόκαμπο, περιοχές που εμπλέκονται σε εγκεφαλικά δίκτυα που ρυθμίζουν το άγχος.

Χρησιμοποιώντας Western blot, qRT-PCR, δοκιμασίες ολικής αντιοξειδωτικής ικανότητας και καρβονυλίωσης, ανακαλύψαμε ότι το EH δεν επηρεάζει το οξειδωτικό στρες και την οξειδωτική φωσφορυλίωση σε καμία από τις μελετηθείσες εγκεφαλικές περιοχές, αλλά αυξάνει την έκφραση γλυκολυτικών ενζύμων στον υποθάλαμο. Επίσης, το EH αυξάνει τα επίπεδα πρωτεϊνών της μιτοχονδριακής δυναμικής στον υποθάλαμο καθώς και τα επίπεδα mRNA γονιδίων σχετιζόμενων με μιτοχονδριακή δυναμική. Τέλος, τα επίπεδα καρβονυλίωσης στον προμετωπιαίο φλοιό αλλά και η αντιοξειδωτική ικανότητα στον ιππόκαμπο συσχετίζονται με τη σχετική με το άγχος συμπεριφορά.

Τα αποτελέσματά μας αναδεικνύουν τον ρόλο των μιτοχονδρίων και της μιτοχονδριακής δυναμικής στην επαγόμενη από το ΕΗ αγχόλυση στα ΗΑΒ αρσενικά ποντίκια και μπορούν να συνεισφέρουν στην ανακάλυψη νέων θεραπευτικών στόχων για την αντιμετώπιση των διαταραχών άγχους.

#### <u>Abstract</u>

Early life manipulations are studied in rodents to disentangle how they shape later life outcomes. Early Handling (EH) is an early life intervention consisting of the brief and repeated separation of the pups from their mother during the first days after birth, which has been shown to exert beneficial effects in adulthood. However, which are the EH effects in a high anxiety background and how brain mitochondria regulate these effects have not been yet investigated. To address these questions, we applied EH in mice of high (HAB) and normal (NAB) anxiety-related behavior. Previous experiments from our lab showed that EH induces anxiolysis in HAB adult male mice and alters prefrontal cortex mRNA levels of key players of mitochondrial dynamics, which includes the molecular machinery of mitochondrial biogenesis, fission, fusion and mitophagy. The aim of this thesis was to expand the molecular characterization of EH in the prefrontal cortex but also in hypothalamus and hippocampus, which are brain regions involved in anxiety neurocircuits.

Using Western blots, qRT- PCRs, total antioxidant capacity (TAC) and carbonylation assays, we discovered that EH exerts no effect on oxidative stress or oxidative phosphorylation in all brain regions studied, but increases glycolytic enzyme expression in the hypothalamus. Furthermore, we found that EH increases mitochondrial dynamics protein levels in the hypothalamus as well as mRNA levels of mitochondrial dynamics-related genes. Finally, carbonylation levels in the prefrontal cortex and TAC in the hippocampus correlate with anxiety-related behavior.

Our results highlight the role of mitochondria and mitochondrial dynamics in the EHinduced anxiolysis in HAB male mice in a brain region-specific manner and can contribute to the discovery of candidate therapeutic targets for the treatment of anxiety disorders.

# **Abbreviations list**

- ABS Absorbance
- ACTH Adrenocorticotropic Hormone
- AFR Animal Facility Rearing Condition
- AMPA α-Amino-3-Hydroxy-5-Methyl-4- Isoxazolepropionic acid
- ATP Adenosine Triphosphate
- BSA Bovine Serum Albumin
- **CORT** Corticosterone
- CRF Corticotropin-Releasing Factor
- CS Citrate Synthase
- DaLi Dark-light box
- DCIP Dichlorophenolindophenol
- DDIT4 DNA Damage Inducible Transcript 4
- DNM2 Dynamin 2
- DNPH 2,4-Dinitrophenylhydrazine
- DRP1 Dynamin-related Protein 1
- dH<sub>2</sub>O Distilled water
- EH Early Handling
- ELS Early Life Stress
- EPM Elevated Plus-Maze
- ETC Electron Transport Chain
- FIS1 Mitochondrial Fission 1 Protein
- FST Forced-Swim Test
- GAPDH Glyceraldehyde-3-Phosphate Dehydrogenase
- GSH Glutathione
- GSK-3β Glycogen Synthase Kinase 3-beta
- GSR Glutathione Reductase
- HAB High Anxiety-Related Behavior
- HPA Hypothalamic-Pituitary-Adrenal
- IMM Inner Mitochondrial Membrane
- ISOD Isocitrate Dehydrogenase

- LAB Low Anxiety-Related Behavior
- LDHB Lactate Dehydrogenase B
- MFF Mitochondrial Fission Factor
- MFN1 Mitofusin 1
- MFN2 Mitofusin 2
- MID51 Mitochondrial dynamics protein 51 kD
- mtDNA Mitochondrial DNA
- mtDNAcn Mitochondrial DNA copy number
- NAB Normal Anxiety-Related behavior
- NH Non-handling
- OFT Open Field Test
- OMA1 Metalloendopeptidase OMA1, mitochondrial
- OMM Outer Mitochondrial Membrane
- OPA1 Dynamin-like 120 kDa protein, mitochondrial
- **OXPHOS** Oxidative Phosphorylation
- PRKN E3 ubiquitin-protein Ligase Parkin
- PGC-1a Peroxisome Proliferator-Activated Receptor Gamma Coactivator-1 alpha
- PINK1 PTEN Induced Kinase 1
- PKLR Pyruvate Kinase, Liver
- PND Postnatal Day
- PRX Peroxiredoxin
- qRT-PCR Quantitative Real-Time Polymerase Chain Reaction
- ROS Reactive Oxygen Species
- SDHA Succinate Dehydrogenase a
- SFXN3 Sideroflexin3
- SLC25A46 Solute Carrier Family 25 Member 46
- SOD2 Superoxide Dismutase 2
- SPAT Social Preference-Avoidance Test
- SRP14 Signal Recognition Particle 14
- TAC -Total Antioxidant Capacity
- TBS Tris-Buffered Saline
- TBS-T Tris-Buffered Saline, Tween 20

- TFAM Transcription Factor A, mitochondrial
- TIM23 Mitochondrial Import Inner Membrane Translocase Subunit TIM23
- YME1L ATP-Dependent Zinc Metalloprotease

#### 1. Introduction

#### 1.1 The importance of early life experiences in shaping adult phenotypes

The external environment affects the physiology and development of a child's brain, thus shaping its behaviors and abilities (Raineki et al. 2014). Through nutritional, hormonal, and behavioral processes, the early environment influences the psychosocial characteristics of an individual (Luchetti et al. 2015). According to clinical and animal studies, the most predominant external factor affecting a child's development as well as its mental health is the relationship with its parents (Maccoby 2000). The quality of parental care is critical for the development of the offspring, their behavioral development and the formation of a stress coping mechanism to address stressful stimuli (Pryce et al. 2005; Landers and Sullivan 2012), especially during crucial developmental time intervals, such as the early postnatal period, the adolescence as well as the prenatal period given that numerous studies support that the fetus responds to the mother *in utero* (Howerton et al. 2013; Lucion and Bortolini 2014, Papadopoulou et al. 2019).

For younger individuals, exposure to aversive early-life events such as childhood abuse and parental neglect, increases the possibility to develop anxiety and other psychiatric disorders later in adulthood (Raineki et al. 2014; González-Pardo et al. 2020). They may also result into physical health problems such as obesity, cardiovascular and neurodegenerative diseases, impacting on neurochemical, neuroendocrine and immunological stress responses (Bondar et al. 2018; González-Pardo et al. 2020). On the other hand, positive early-life experiences, such as appropriate nursing and nutrition, are beneficial for the offspring's physical and mental health and are associated with optimal modulation of stress responses upon challenges later in life (Pryce et al. 2005; Baldini et al. 2013; Raineki et al. 2014). This autonomy-supportive parenting type creates an attachment behavior that further results in a positive emotional charge of the offspring and works favorable for the offspring's survival (Bowlby 1969).

A series of protocols in rodents study the parental care and more specifically the maternal care during postnatal period (Reis et al. 2014). Particularly in mammals, the quality of maternal care is of great importance, since the mother provides essential stimuli to the

offspring and also covers their nutritional needs by lactation (Pingault and Goldberg 2008; Bales 2017). This dam-pup interaction regulates the pup's brain development and has a lasting and profound effect later on adult behavior (Bales 2017). Therefore, early life manipulation studies may provide evidence on how early life experiences shape the neurobiology, physiology and emotional regulation against anxiety, fear and social attachment (Pryce and Feldon 2003; González-Pardo et al. 2020).

#### 1.2 What is Early Handling (EH)?

Early handling (EH), or postnatal or neonatal handling, is the brief and repeated separation of the pups from their dam during the first days after birth, which interferes with the dam-pup bond. EH is considered a mild early life intervention and not a stressor because the separation period is shorter than Early Life Stress (ELS) paradigms, such as maternal separation or maternal deprivation (Raineki et al. 2014; Luchetti et al. 2015). Among laboratories, there are many variations in EH protocols used regarding the separation time, the number of repetitions, whether pups are handled individually or by litter etc.

Previous studies in both male and female rodents have shown that EH exerts diverse effects in the adult offspring. At the behavioral level, it has been shown that early handled rats are more active and explore more the open arms in the open field test (OFT), showing a reduced anxiety-like behavior (Caldji et al. 2000; Madruga et al. 2006). Findings of Vallée et al. in rats also indicate decreased anxiety-like behavior of EH animals in both OFT and the elevated plus maze (EPM) (Vallée et al. 1997). Furthermore, a study of Bondar et al. reported that EH decreases anxiety-like behavior in male adult rats (Bondar et al. 2018), whereas Madruga et al. found that EH decreases the behavioral responses of innate and learned fear in adult male rats (Madruga et al. 2006). Additional data have shown that early handled rats receive more maternal care in infancy, which helps their optimal adaptation to their environment resulting in an overall emotionally stable organism (Pryce et al. 2001; Raineki et al. 2014; Luchetti et al. 2015).

At the molecular level, studies in rats have shown that EH increases serotonin activity and cellular proliferation in the hippocampus (Pryce et al. 2005), increases neuronal density and glucocorticoid receptor density in hippocampus and prefrontal cortex (Meaney et al. 1996; Winkelmann-Duarte et al. 2011), and increases expression of benzodiazepine receptors in amygdala (Pryce and Feldon 2003). Moreover, EH stimulates hippocampal neurogenesis as brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) was increased in the dentate gyrus of early handled pups (Taschetto Vey et al. 2020) as well as in olfactory bulbs, a structure playing a fundamental role in the olfactory learning mechanism which involves the maternal licking behavior (Reis et al. 2014). Lastly, hormonal studies reveal that early handled male rats exhibit lower secretion of corticosterone (CORT) in response to stressors, recover rapidly towards basal levels after a variety of stressors and have a better hormonal response to stress later as adults (Vallée et al. 1997; Luchetti et al. 2015).

Even though the EH protocols vary across laboratories, the reduced anxiety-like behavior and stress responses have been replicated (Raineki et al. 2014). EH has been studied in C57BL/6 mice, DBA/2J mice, NMRI mice and rat strains such as Wistar, Long-Evans and Sprague-Dawley rats which are used as basal rodent models. EH manipulations have not been studied in rodent lines with different anxiety backgrounds. Thus, there is a gap of knowledge concerning the effects of EH in a high anxiety background. As mentioned before, the brain in early life is more vulnerable and easily affected by challenging experiences, than during adult stages (Zitkovsky et al. 2021). Studying the effects of EH in a high anxiety background will provide more information on what happens in divergent trait anxiety backgrounds, giving us the opportunity to understand the effects of early life interventions in vulnerable, high anxiety populations.

#### 1.3 Anxiety and anxiety disorders

Anxiety is a state of persistent and excessive worry, characterized by increased alertness, autonomic and neuroendocrine activity and accompanied by physiological and behavioral alterations that vary greatly in frequency and intensity among individuals (Steimer 2002; Filiou and Sandi 2019). Anxiety and stress are often used interchangeably, but these terms are characterized by biological, psychological and neurophysiological differences. Stress response is induced upon the presence of a real external threat/stressor that can be either short-term or long-term, whereas anxiety is the anticipation of a future threat which is not always directly linked to a real and immediate threat (Daviu et al. 2019).

Scientists have classified anxiety into state and trait (Takagi et al. 2018; Daviu et al. 2019). State anxiety is an acute response triggered after anticipation of a potential threat and is considered a normal physiological reaction and a part of the body's natural fight or flight response. On the other hand, trait anxiety is an individual's predisposition to experience continual and high levels of anxiety, which can cause a considerable reduction in health-related living quality (Daviu et al. 2019; Hohls et al. 2021). Therefore, it is not surprising that the most common psychiatric disorders are anxiety disorders, which include generalized anxiety disorder, panic disorder, social disorder as well as phobias (regarding a particular object or a situation) (Fischer 2021; Hohls et al. 2021). According to the World Health Organization (WHO), in 2022 anxiety disorders affected around 3.6% of the global population, but this prevalence differs in some countries or regions. It is necessary to note that anxiety disorders can comorbid with other mental health conditions such as depression or substance abuse which increases symptoms severity and complicates the choice of an appropriate treatment (Hohls et al. 2021).

#### 1.4 Brain areas for the study of anxiety

A large body of research work has examined the neurocircuitry of brain areas associated with anxiety responses. Key regions that constitute the neurocircuitry of anxiety include, among others, the prefrontal cortex, the hippocampus and the hypothalamus (McEwen et al. 2016; Daviu et al. 2019).

The prefrontal cortex is a brain region implicated in emotional processing, decision making and stress response (Dixon et al. 2017). In primates, the prefrontal cortex has expanded in evolution to employ high-level regulatory approaches to cope with anxiety (Kenwood et al. 2022). Optogenetics, chemogenetics and pharmacology techniques have revealed that the prefrontal cortex is also implicated in a variety of functions such as sensory processing, emotional expression, attention as well as alertness and spatial attention (Bissonette and Powell 2012; Fuster 2015; Rozeske et al. 2015). Mice have three prefrontal subdivisions, the dorsomedial prefrontal cortex, ventromedial prefrontal cortex and ventrolateral prefrontal cortex (Le Merre et al. 2021). Until recently, there has been a debate on whether rodents have what could be considered a prefrontal cortex and if so, how close is to human prefrontal cortex. However, anatomical evidence supports that the rodent medial prefrontal cortex is related to both the primate anterior cingulate cortex and the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex (Seamans et al. 2008).

The hippocampus is predominantly involved in memory and fear responses, but hippocampal neuronal circuits are also associated with stress and anxiety-related behaviors (de Kloet et al. 2005; Zemla and Basu 2017; Humphreys et al. 2019; Baksh et al. 2021). The hippocampal formation consists of the hippocampus, the dentate gyrus and the subicular cortex. Hippocampus is a C-shape structure, further subdivided in three regions of the cornu ammonis (CA), which are anatomically and functionally differentiated into distinct subfields named CA1, CA2 and CA3 regions (Zemla and Basu 2017). Hippocampus forms extensive connections with several brain regions such as the prefrontal cortex, the amygdala and the nucleus accumbens (Tannenholz et al. 2014; Zemla and Basu 2017). While neurogenesis is restricted to prenatal and early postnatal life in other brain regions, the dentate gyrus of the hippocampus undergoes neurogenesis throughout life, suggesting that early life experiences may have a stronger impact on the hippocampal development and therefore on the brain's long-term development (Malave et al. 2022).

Due to its connection with the nervous and endocrine system, the hypothalamus is also linked to anxiety-related behavior regulation (Fischer 2021). The hypothalamus acts as the body's coordinating center, managing body temperature, blood pressure, thirst, metabolism, energy homeostasis, mood, sleep and sex drive (Morris et al. 2012; Schindler et al. 2012; Jin and Diano 2018). Hypothalamic neurons modulate behavior and are implicated in anxiety disorders, mood disorders and other mental illnesses (Fischer 2021; Kageyama et al. 2021). In response to a stressful stimulus, corticotropin-releasing hormone (CRH) is released from hypothalamic nuclei and activates the hypothalamic–pituitary– adrenal (HPA) axis, which consists of the hypothalamus, the pituitary gland and the adrenal glands, to secrete other hormones like adrenocorticotropic hormone (ACTH), cortisol and catecholamines (Kageyama et al. 2021). Anxiogenic stimuli drive the release of oxytocin and vasopressin within hypothalamic and limbic areas and act as regulators of anxiety, stresscoping and emotional behavior (Neumann and Landgraf 2012). Overall, hormonal imbalance and dysregulation in the hypothalamus are connected to anxiety as well as neurological and inflammatory disorders, as individuals with anxiety disorders often exhibit HPA axis hyperactivity (Kageyama et al. 2021).

#### 1.5 The High Anxiety-Related Behavior (HAB) animal model

Animal models of anxiety allow the study of the behavioral and genetic correlates of anxiety-related behavior (Gordon and Hen 2004). Even though measuring anxiety in animals is limited only in the behavioral and physiological responses, data obtained from a battery of tests (EPM, OFT, dark-light box (DaLi)) can provide a comprehensive description of the animal's individual phenotype (Steimer 2011). Symptoms of anxiety and anxiety disorders can be modeled in mice or rats through genetic selection/inbreeding, generation of transgenic or knockout animals (with conditional and inducible mutations), using siRNA to block translation of specific mRNA targets, viral transfection to insert targeted gene construct into the genome of a non-replicating virus such as lentivirus and quantitative trait loci (Jacobson and Cryan 2009; Steimer 2011). To study high anxiety, breeding animals through selection is considered a more effective method than animal models with targeted gene knockouts, since selective inbreeding recapitulates the multifactorial and complex nature of anxiety traits instead of single genes (Landgraf et al. 2007).

Towards this direction, high anxiety-related behavior (HAB) mice are bred for many generations to bear the trait of high anxiety (Kromer et al. 2005). This mouse line was developed from a common CD1 population, in which the behavioral extremes that exhibit consistent and robust differences in their performance on the EPM, were selected (Kromer et al. 2005). In particular, male and female CD1 mice that spend a very small amount of time in the EPM open arms were selectively bred and gave rise to the HAB line (Kromer et al. 2005). Mice that spent most of their time in the open arms were selectively bred to give rise to the low-anxiety related behavior mice (LAB). Normal Anxiety-related behavior mice (NAB) were chosen as anxiety-related behavior controls (Fig. 1) (Kromer et al. 2005; Ditzen et al. 2006).



**Figure 1.** A) HAB mice explore less the open arms of the EPM than LAB mice. B) EPM data of the parental male and female CD1 mice and G1-G27 generations of male and female mice for HAB and LAB lines. The dotted lines with clear circles or diamonds denote the female animals, while the solid lines with filled circles or diamonds denote the male animals. HAB: high anxiety-related behavior, LAB: low anxiety-related behavior, NAB: normal-anxiety-related behavior EPM: elevated plus maze. Figure taken from (Ditzen et al. 2006).

HAB mice differ greatly (regardless of sex) in a range of behavioral tests (DaLi, ultrasound vocalization test, forced-swim test (FST), tail suspension test) compared to LAB mice and due to the selective enrichment of the genetic anxiety background, they represent a powerful tool for the behavioral and molecular study of mechanisms underlying anxiety (Kromer et al. 2005; Filiou et al. 2014). When compared with LAB mice, HAB mice present a distinct molecular profile in both brain and in plasma. Proteomics in hippocampus and plasma and metabolomics in plasma along with in silico analyses have identified altered levels of proteins that regulate Krebs cycle and electron transport chain (ETC) between HAB and LAB mice (Zhang et al. 2011). Lastly, studies in cingulate cortex have shown alterations in multiple mitochondrial pathways, in energy metabolism, mitochondrial import and transport, oxidative stress, apoptosis and neurotransmission between HAB and LAB mice (Filiou et al. 2011, 2014).

#### 1.6 Mitochondria

#### **1.6.1 Mitochondrial structure and function**

Originating from endosymbiosis with an ancient prokaryote, mitochondria are an essential organelle of eukaryotic cells. These highly dynamic double membrane organelles, except from being the cell's "powerhouse", are also implicated in a plethora of cellular processes, including reactive oxygen species (ROS) regulation, calcium regulation, hormone and macromolecule biosynthesis, signaling, homeostasis and metabolism (Chinnery and Schon 2003; Spinelli & Haigis 2018). Some of the basic mitochondrial functions are presented in Fig. 2.

The energy production is accomplished with the process of oxidative phosphorylation (OXPHOS) that is linked with the ETC and the Krebs cycle (Bhatti et al. 2022). OXPHOS includes five multiprotein complexes. Complex I or NADH reductase binds NADH substrate and transfers electrons to the bound ubiquinone. Complex II or succinate dehydrogenase oxidizes succinate and transfers electrons to ubiquinone (Chaban et al. 2014). Complex III is cytochrome c oxidoreductase, known to oxidize ubiquinone to ubiquinol and as a result it pumps two protons to the intermembrane area. Complex IV is cytochrome c oxidase and catalyzes the oxidation of cytochrome c and the reduction of oxygen to water, coupled to proton translocation (Chaban et al. 2014; Signes and Fernandez-Vizarra 2018). Finally, complex V is Adenosine Triphosphate (ATP) synthase; an enzyme that synthesizes ATP using the proton motive force generated by complexes I, III and IV (Chaban et al. 2014; Signes and Fernandez-Vizarra 2018). Complexes I to IV form the ETC and are arranged along the cristae membrane, whereas complex V is located to cristae bends (Formosa and Ryan 2018; Pei & Wallace 2018; Bhatti et al. 2022).

ROS are formed as byproducts of OXPHOS and are mainly accountable for oxidative stress (Youle & van der Bliek 2012).  $O_2^{--}$  seems to be the first radical to be generated, while other ROS are formed downstream. When exceeding the normal levels, these radicals are highly reactive and, thus, very harmful to molecules and cellular membranes. Due to this, several antioxidant enzymes play key roles as a defense system, maintaining the redox balance inside the cells. Among others, catalase (CAT, converts H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> to H<sub>2</sub>O), glutathione reductase (GSR, reduces the oxidized glutathione), superoxide dismutase 2 (SOD2, binds to superoxide byproducts of oxidative phosphorylation) and peroxiredoxin (PRX, family of peroxidases that reduces H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>, short chain organic fatty acids and phospholipid hyperoxides) are crucial for redox regulation (Mishra and Chan 2014; Apostolova and Victor 2015).

The levels of intracellular signaling molecules, including ROS, are regulated by protein–protein signaling interactions. These interactions occur in the outer mitochondrial membrane that serves as a signaling platform due to its proteins (Tait and Green 2012). Also through the mitochondrial membranes, all nuclear encoded mitochondrial proteins are imported. One well characterized mitochondrial import system is the TOM-TIM23 complex (Mokranjac and Neupert 2010). TIM23 is a carrier translocase in the inner mitochondrial membrane that imports proteins into the mitochondrial matrix through cooperation with the TOM complex of the outer mitochondrial membrane (Mokranjac and Neupert 2010). Other essential mitochondrial membrane proteins involved in ion import include SLC25A12 (ARALAR) and Sideroflexin3 (SFXN3). ARALAR, a member of the SLC25 carrier family, is the neuronal calcium-binding mitochondrial aspartate-glutamate carrier that is essential for calcium signaling (Ramos et al. 2011). SFXN3 is a serine transporter located in the mitochondrial membrane and involved in iron transportation. Though widely expressed, it is enriched in neurons and especially in synaptic terminals (Ledahawsky et al. 2022).

Glycolysis, a cytoplasmic energy pathway, is highly linked with mitochondria. During glycolysis glucose is converted into pyruvate. Some of the glycolytic enzymes include pyruvate kinase liver type (PKLR), glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH) and a-enolase (ENO1). ENO1 catalyzes the conversion of 2-phosphoglycerate to phosphoenolpyruvate, which is further converted to pyruvate by PKLR, whereas GAPDH performs the reversible oxidative phosphorylation of glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate. Under anaerobic conditions, the pyruvate produced by glycolysis is converted to lactate by the cytosolic enzyme lactate dehydrogenase (LDHB) (Melkonian and Schury 2022). Under aerobic conditions, pyruvate is transported in mitochondria and enters the Krebs cycle. Krebs cycle is a metabolic pathway that generates NADH and FADH<sub>2</sub>, which are subsequently utilized by OXPHOS to generate ATP (Korla and Mitra 2014). Krebs cycle enzymes include citric synthase (CS), isocitrate dehydrogenase (ISOD) and succinate dehydrogenase subunit A (SDHA). CS is a nuclear encoded protein that transports into the mitochondrial matrix and is involved in

the first step of the citric acid cycle, catalyzing the condensation of oxaloacetate and acetyl-CoA to form citric acid (Wiegand and Remington 1986). ISOD catalyzes isocitrate oxidative decarboxylation, resulting in alpha-ketoglutarate and CO<sub>2</sub> and SDHA converts succinate to fumarate. Glycolysis together with Krebs cycle and OXPHOS are included in the cell's energy metabolism machinery (Rigoulet et al. 2020) and this connection is influenced by stressrelated proteins such as the DNA damage inducible transcript 4 (DDIT4). DDIT4 protein is implicated in modulation of cellular energy levels and metabolism, negative regulation of mTOR signaling and has a key role in virus defense and hypoxia response (Ding et al. 2021). Even though it does not directly interact with mitochondria, under stressful conditions, DDIT4 inhibits mTOR signaling and influences mitochondrial function by modulating the balance between glycolysis and OXPHOS (Ding et al. 2021).

Lastly, mitochondria are linked with neurotransmission since synapses are packed with mitochondria and the release of vesicles with neurotransmitters requires energy in the form of ATP (Ly and Verstreken 2006). Furthermore, mitochondria respond to signaling neurotransmitters, including glutamate, dopamine, and serotonin and support the processes of neuronal activity, development, growth and plasticity (Ben-Shachar and Ene 2018). A principal mechanism underlying synaptic plasticity is  $\alpha$ -Amino-3-Hydroxy-5-Methyl-4-Isoxazolepropionic acid (AMPA) function. AMPA is the ionotropic glutamate-gated ion channel that mediates almost all fast excitatory transmissions in the central nervous system (Palmer et al. 2005; Cull-Candy et al. 2006). The glutamatergic neurotransmission plays an important role in mechanisms underlying anxiety responses and thus investigating changes in AMPA expression or function are helpful for the treatment of anxiety (Riaza Bermudo-Soriano et al. 2012).



**Figure 2.** Schematic representation of some of the basic mitochondrial functions. These processes include Krebs cycle, mtDNA replication and transcription, OXPHOS and antioxidant defense. (Image created in Biorender.com)

## **1.6.2 Mitochondrial dynamics**

Mitochondria vary widely in their size, structure and numbers according to the cellular state and energy demands and among organisms and cell types. To respond to cellular metabolic needs, mitochondria modify the proportion and size of their inner membrane and intermembrane space, remodeling their cristae structure, and communicate with each other (Liesa et al. 2009). The maintenance of a healthy pool of mitochondria in terms of function, shape, size, number and distribution in cells, is crucial for the cell's well-being and is collectively addressed as "mitochondrial dynamics", which entails the molecular machinery of mitochondrial biogenesis, fission, fusion and mitophagy (Tilokani et al. 2018). Mitochondrial dynamics are described below and depicted in Fig. 3.

#### Mitochondrial Biogenesis

Mitochondrial biogenesis is the process of increasing mitochondria numbers, which takes place mainly in healthy cells (Popov 2020). Biogenesis is not a *de novo* synthesis of new mitochondria but a self-replication event of pre-existing mitochondria, which involves the fission and fusion processes. This dynamic process defines mitochondrial morphology and is also implicated in the maintenance of mitochondrial DNA (mtDNA) (Popov 2020). Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma coactivator-1 alpha (PGC1a) is a transcription factor and the main regulator of mitochondrial biogenesis. It stimulates the nuclear respiratory factors 1 and 2 (NRF1 and NRF2), which in turn activate the mitochondrial transcription factor A (TFAM) to initiate mtDNA synthesis (Halling and Pilegaard 2020).

#### Mitochondrial Fission

Fission is the scission of mitochondria that is performed when there is need for more mitochondria or when there is need for elimination of damaged/ dysfunctional mitochondria through mitophagy (Tilokani et al. 2018; Xian and Liou 2021; Al Ojaimi et al. 2022). Fission is regulated by dynamin-related protein 1(DRP1), dynamin 2 (DNM2), mitochondrial fission factor (MFF) and mitochondrial fission 1 (FIS1) that are responsible for mid-zone and peripheral fission (Mishra and Chan 2014; Tilokani et al. 2018; Bhatti et al. 2022). The decision of which of two fates will finally be followed relates with the initiation of fission site (Meyer et al. 2017). First, DRP1 self-polymerizes around the mitochondrial outer membrane and recruits DNM2 to the endoplasmic reticulum and DRP1-induced constriction sites (Yapa et al. 2021). FIS1 and MFF interact with DRP1 to recruit it to the contact sites of the endoplasmic reticulum and the outer mitochondrial membrane in order to drive fission in a GTP-dependent manner (Losón et al. 2013; Tilokani et al. 2018; Quintana-Cabrera and Scorrano 2023). Damaged mitochondria initiate peripheral fission, where FIS1 is activated, leading to mitophagy, whereas healthy mitochondria initiate mid-zone fission and MFF is activated, driving mitochondrial biogenesis (Kleele et al. 2021).

#### **Mitochondrial Fusion**

Mitochondrial fusion involves merging a damaged or dysfunctional mitochondrion with a healthy one (Youle and van der Bliek 2012). This process occurs with the help of

GTPases such as mitofusin 1 and 2 (MFN1 and MFN2) and the mitochondrial-dynamin-like protein (OPA1). The fusion of the outer mitochondrial membrane is driven by MFN1 and MFN2 that together form homo- or hetero-complexes decreasing the distance between two mitochondria (Chen et al. 2003; Mishra and Chan 2014; Bhatti et al. 2022). Then, OPA1 drives fusion of the inner mitochondrial membrane that occurs downstream and stabilizes endoplasmic reticulum-mitochondrial tethering (Tilokani et al. 2018; Bhatti et al. 2022). OPA1 at first exists in an uncleaved form which is called long-OPA1. Metalloendopeptidase OMA1, mitochondrial (OMA1) and ATP-dependent zinc metalloprotease (YME1L) cleave long OPA1 into short isoforms, a process necessary for fusion initiation (Mishra and Chan 2014).

#### Mitochondrial Mitophagy

The selective degradation of damaged or dysfunctional mitochondria is called mitophagy. One of the most studied mitophagy pathways is the Pink1/Parkin pathway. PTEN induced kinase 1 (PINK1) and E3 ubiquitin-protein ligase parkin (PRKN) serve as organizers of mitochondrial quality control. PINK1 is imported in mitochondria and degraded by presenilin-associated rhomboid-like protease (PARL) (Jin et al. 2010; Matsuda et al. 2013). Following mitochondria depolarization, PINK1 forms complexes with TOM in the outer mitochondrial membrane and activates PRKN. Then, PRKN polyubiquitinylates mitochondrial proteins to direct them to the proteasome, promoting mitochondrial degradation (Mishra and Chan 2014; Bhatti et al. 2022). Mutations in PINK1 and PRKN encoding genes are causal for familial cases of Parkinson's disease and also appear in Alzheimer's disease (Matsuda et al. 2013; Mishra and Chan 2014; Bhatti et al. 2022).



**Figure 3.** Mitochondrial dynamics. Schematic representation of mitochondrial dynamics processes, which include mitochondrial biogenesis, fusion, fission and mitophagy along with the key protein that mediate each process. (Image created in Biorender.com)

#### 1.6.3 Mitochondria and anxiety

In the brain, the mitochondrial ATP production is vital to sustain the brain's physiological development and functions (Filiou and Sandi 2019). Neurons account for most of the brain energy requirements and mitochondria support almost all neuronal processes such as growth, plasticity, maintenance of membrane potential, connectivities and synaptic transmission (Srivastava et al. 2018; Filiou and Sandi 2019). High anxiety strongly enhances these energy requirements, by raising cerebral energy needs in terms of glucose oxidation and oxygen consumption (Morava and Kozicz 2013; Filiou and Sandi 2019; Morella et al. 2022). This adaptation is mediated by mitochondria in various levels, providing the energy demands for intracellular processes, such as gene transcription and translation and epigenetic modifications in response to high anxiety levels (Picard et al. 2018; Daviu et al. 2019).

#### Mitochondria and early life interventions

Studies from a number of animal paradigms highlight a mitochondrial implication in anxiety-related responses in the brain, that are caused by early life adversities. Mitochondria seem to respond to ELS-induced brain programming, which includes changes in dendritic length and density and alterations in the transcription motif by adding epigenetic changes (Lupien et al. 2009; Hoffmann and Spengler 2018). Rodents with chronic social stress show lower respiration and reduction in the protein levels of the respiratory chain protein subunits in the brain, due to changes in brain metabolic activity (Kanarik et al. 2011; McCoy et al. 2016). Recent research suggests that individuals with ELS or major depressive disorder have increased oxidative stress and higher mitochondrial content with increased mtDNA copy number (mtDNAcn) (Hoffmann and Spengler 2018; Picard and McEwen 2018; Ridout et al. 2020). Lastly, in human studies, individuals with stressful life events and childhood trauma experiences also show higher mtDNAcn with higher mtDNA mutation rates in whole blood samples (Tyrka et al. 2016; Picard and McEwen 2018). All these aforementioned studies involve mitochondria in early life adversities, however, how mitochondria mediate the effects of positive early life manipulations in adulthood has not been explored. Thus, there is still a gap of knowledge on how mitochondria mediate the beneficial effects of EH.

#### 1.6.4 Mitochondria-targeted therapeutics

In view of the above, there is currently emerging interest in exploring mitochondria as therapeutic targets for metabolic and neurodegenerative disorders (Bhatti et al. 2022), for relieving anxiety symptoms (Nussbaumer et al. 2016) and also as a supplementary treatment for chronic pathologies such as metabolic disease, cardiac disease as well as psychiatric disorders (Ben-Shachar and Ene 2018; Murphy and Hartley 2018). Most of the treatments aim to target ROS and apoptosis while also restoring cellular bioenergetic homeostasis, by increasing respiration and ATP production (Ben-Shachar and Ene 2018). Compounds including liposomal carriers and lipophilic cations have been developed to deliver antioxidants as well as substrates and coenzyme components of ETC, such as cytochrome c, succinate and vitamin B1 and have proven to be successful in clinical trials (Apostolova and

Victor 2015). Mitochondrial transplantation is also being discussed in the context of clinical medicine including autologous, non-autologous or even xenogenic transplantation (Hosseinian et al. 2022). Disruption in mitochondrial dynamics is thought to participate in the pathogenesis of neurodegeneration such as the unbalanced mitochondrial fission-fusion machinery that pushes mitochondria to extensive elongation, via OPA1 and MFN1, or to fragmentation, via AMPK phosphorylation of DRP1 (Meyer et al. 2017). When mitochondrial elongation or fragmentation are at high levels, they can facilitate apoptosis and cell death. However, at low levels, evidence indicates that mitochondrial elongation or fragmentation is a reversible state and may act as an adaptive mechanism to avoid cell death (Meyer et al. 2017; Yapa et al. 2021). Therefore, another novel approach is targeting molecules that mediate mitochondrial dynamics. These approaches include modulators of MFN oligomerization, the association of DRP1 with FIS1 or even target the GTPase activity of OPA1 and DRP1 (Zacharioudakis and Gavathiotis 2022). For example, Mdivi1 is a DRP1 inhibitor that has been found to have promising results in neurodegenerative disorders as well as cancer (Dai et al. 2020; Liu et al. 2022). Also, pharmacological compounds activating the PGC1a signaling pathway such as metformin and resveratrol, have been studied in experimental models mostly of mitochondrial diseases (Ben-Shachar and Ene 2018).

An antioxidant that is being designed to target mitochondria is MitoQ, which applies in neuropsychiatric phenotypes. MitoQ is composed after conjugation of the lipophilic cation triphenylphosphonium (TPP+) with an ubiquinone (Nussbaumer et al. 2016). Previous work from our lab revealed that chronic MitoQ treatment of HAB mice through drinking water has a clear anxiolytic effect as MitoQ-treated HAB mice spent more time in the light compartment of the DaLi than the untreated-HAB mice (Nussbaumer et al. 2016). MitoQ is non-toxic and well-tolerated from the animals, and reported to be safe for long-term therapy (Smith and Murphy 2010; Nussbaumer et al. 2016). Molecularly, a metabolomic analysis reported altered levels of sarcosine, AMP, and ascorbic acid in the HAB hippocampus upon MitoQ treatment, metabolites that are associated with symptoms of psychiatric disorders (Nussbaumer et al. 2016). These results show that there is a very promising area for mitochondrial-protective therapies with new conjugated antioxidants.

Studying the link between anxiety and mitochondrial functions helps to better understand how anxiety affects brain bioenergetics. At the same time, it may shed light on how targeting mitochondria could possibly be used as a potential therapeutic approach. Although HAB mice are used in the study of anxiety, there is still no evidence on the effects of EH in HAB mice. More importantly, there is no evidence for the effects of EH in mitochondria, in mitochondria-related pathways and mitochondrial dynamics. Unraveling how brain mitochondria are affected by early life experiences, would be a helpful tool for assessing mitochondria profiles in the brain and discovering a more effective and personalized therapeutic avenues for anxiety disorders.

# 2. <u>Aim of the study</u>

Based on previous experiments in our lab, we have discovered that EH exerts anxiolytic effects in adult HAB male mice. Therefore, the goal of this work is to molecularly characterize how brain mitochondria are involved the EH-induced anxiolysis in three brain regions that are implicated in anxiety neurocircuits and emotional regulation, namely the prefrontal cortex, the hippocampus and the hypothalamus. We explored diverse mitochondrial, energy and mitochondrial-related pathways such as OXPHOS, antioxidant defense, mitochondrial import/ transport, glycolysis, mitochondrial metabolism as well as mitochondrial dynamics in HAB EH vs. HAB NH (non handled, control) male mice. More specifically our aim was to investigate:

- In the prefrontal cortex of HAB EH vs. HAB NH male mice: changes in mRNA levels
  of mitochondrial dynamics players and alterations in oxidative stress and oxidative
  damage.
- In the hippocampus and hypothalamus of HAB EH vs. HAB NH male mice: alterations in expression levels of proteins that mediate mitochondrial functions and key players of mitochondrial dynamics, changes in mRNA levels of mitochondrial dynamics genes and changes in oxidative stress.
- In all three brain regions: correlations of each molecular readout with the behavioral parameters of the DaLi test that were different between HAB EH and HAB NH mice (number of entries and the latency until the first entry to the light compartment).

Taken together, we aim to shed light on which molecular pathways are affected by this early life intervention in different brain areas and how these molecular pathways correlate with behavioral changes.

#### 3. Materials and methods

## 3.1 Animals

Female and male mice from both HAB and NAB lines were mated, respectively, prior to the EH protocol. All these animals were breeders used before and screened at 8 weeks of age on the EPM to assess their anxiety-like behavior. Mice were group housed and kept under standard conditions (12h light/dark cycle, lights on at 6:30 a.m., room temperature 21-25°C, humidity 60%, tap water and food ad libitum) in the animal facility of the University of loannina. When pregnancy was detected, all males were removed from the breeding cages and the pregnant females left undisturbed until the day they gave birth, which was defined as postnatal day (PND) 0.

#### 3.2 Early handling (EH) protocol

HAB and NAB pups were randomly assigned into two groups on PND 0. For the EH group, pups were taken away from their dam for 15 min per day and were transferred to a smaller box into a different room from PND 1 to PND 14. The non handling (NH) mice received only the standard animal facility rearing conditions and thus served as the control group. At PND 31 social preference-avoidance test (SPAT) was performed and when animals reached adulthood, three behavioral tests (OFT, DaLi and FST) were conducted to assess differences in anxiety- and depression-like behavior. On PND 70, EH and NH HAB and NAB mice were anesthetized using isoflurane and decapitated. Brain areas of interest, including prefrontal cortex, hippocampus, and hypothalamus were dissected according to the mouse brain atlas (Paxinos & Franklin 2019) and snap-frozen in eppendorf tubes in liquid nitrogen. Trunk blood was collected in EDTA coated tubes, centrifuged for 10 min, 1300 g at 4°C and plasma was obtained by PhD student Papageorgiou Maria and postdoctoral researcher Komini Chrysoula. Brain samples were weighed and stored at - 80 °C until use. Animal breeding, the EH protocol, behavioral testing and analysis were performed by the research technician Nussbaumer Markus and diploma thesis student Grammenou Elena. Brain areas were dissected by postdoctoral researcher Vlaikou Angeliki-Maria. Due to the anxiolytic effects observed in DaLi in HAB EH vs. HAB NH male mice (see results Fig. 4), our molecular

analyses focused on the comparison between these two groups. The molecular analyses that have been done in each brain region are summarized in Table 1.



**Table 1**: Molecular experiments that have been performed in each brain region. In prefrontal cortex

 Carbonylation assay and qRT-PCRs were performed. In hippocampus and hypothalamus Western blots,

 qRT-PCRs and TAC were performed. PFC: prefrontal cortex, HIP: hippocampus, HYP: hypothalamus, TAC:

 total antioxidant capacity, qRT-PCR: real time reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction. (Image created in Biorender.com)

## 3.3 Protein extraction

Brain tissue samples from prefrontal cortex, hippocampus and hypothalamus were homogenized using green pestles with RIPA lysis buffer (1:10 w/v, 150mM, 1% NP-40, 0,5% Sodium Deoxycholate, 0,1% SDS, 50 mM Tris-HCl pH=8) containing a 1:100 v/v protease/phosphatase inhibitor cocktail (Sigma-Aldrich, Darmstadt, Germany). Homogenates remained on ice for 10 min. Following sonication in a Branson Digital Sonifier (Marshall Scientific, Hampton, USA) at 35% for 10 sec and centrifugation at 10,000 g for 10 min at 4 °C, the supernatants were collected and stored at – 80 °C.

# 3.4 Bradford Assay

For each sample, protein content was estimated by Bradford Assay. Bovine serum albumin (BSA) (Biosera, Cholet, France) 1mg/ml (in PBS) was used as a protein standard. The standard curve was constructed after measuring the absorbance at  $\lambda$ =595 nm in a Spectro UV-11 (MRC Ltd, Holon, Israel) under dim light conditions and in the case that the R<sup>2</sup> of the curve was > 0.98, we proceeded with sample measurements. All samples were measured using 1µl of lysate, 49µl of dH<sub>2</sub>O and 950µl of Bradford solution (100mg Coomassie, 50ml 100% ethanol, 100ml 85% orthophosphoric acid). Due to its photosensitivity, the Bradford solution was added at the end. All standard curve dilutions and samples were measured in duplicates. The protein content of each sample was estimated by its measured absorbance and the equation generated from the standard curve.

# 3.5 Western blot

For the Sodium Dodecyl Sulphate–Polyacrylamide Gel Electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE) electrophoresis, the gels consist of two parts that differ in their composition. The upper part, which is the stacking gel, and the bottom part, which is the separation gel. The acrylamide concentration of the separation gel was chosen according to the range of the protein molecular weights. In our study, for proteins approximately between 17-100 KDa, a 5% stacking and a 12% polyacrylamide separating gel were selected (Smith, 1984). The gels compositions are shown in Table 2.

Reagents	Stacking gel 5%
dH <sub>2</sub> O	3,4 ml
30% acrylamide	830 µl
Tris-HCl 0,5M / pH= 6,8	630 μl
10% SDS	50 μl
10% APS	50 µl
TEMED	5 μl

Reagents	Separating gel 12%
dH <sub>2</sub> O	4,8 ml
30% acrylamide	6 ml
Tris-HCl 0,5M / pH= 6,8	3,9 ml
10% SDS	150 μl
10% APS	150 μl
TEMED	6 µl

Table 2. Reagents used in 5% stacking criterion gel and 12% separation gel.

Per sample, 15  $\mu$ g of protein were diluted in RIPA lysis buffer and 1:4 v/v loading SDS buffer (3/4 Tris 0,5M pH=6,8, 20% SDS w/v, 20% Glycerol v/v) and denatured in a heatblock

(Thermomixer Comfort, Eppendorf, Hamburg, Germany) for 4 min at 99 °C. For Mitoprofile immunodetection, which is an antibody cocktail that detects protein subunits of each OXPHOS complex, samples were not denaturated, according to the manufacturers' instructions. Samples were run in a CriterionTM Cell Chamber (Bio-Rad, Hercules, California, USA) with 1X Running Buffer pH=8.3 (Tris-base 25mM, Glycine 250mM, SDS 0,1%). Electrophoresis power supply (EV 233, Consort, Turnhout, Belgium) was run at 90 V for 30 min and 120 V for another 2,5 h.

After electrophoresis, the stacking gel was removed and the separation gel with a nitrocellulose membrane (GE Healthcare Life Science, Chicago, Illinois) were incubated in Transfer Buffer 1X pH=8.3 (Tris-base 25mM, Glycine 192mM, Methanol 20%) for 20 min. Protein electrotransfer was performed with either wet transfer in a Criterion<sup>™</sup> Blotter (Bio-Rad) at 100 V for 1,5 h in ice or with a semi-dry transfer device (Trans - Blot Turbo, Bio-Rad) using the Standard SD (Semi-Dry) Program for 40 min. For the wet transfer, the set-up of the gel/membrane sandwich was: fiber pad, three Whatman filter paper sheets (Whatman, Maidstone, United Kingdom), gel, membrane, three Whatman filter paper sheets and another fiber pad on top. After transfer, gels and membranes were stained with Coomassie staining buffer (0,125% Coomassie, 50% Methanol, 10% Acetic Acid) and Ponceau (Ponceau S staining solution by Biotium, San Francisco, CA, USA), respectively, to ensure equal loading and successful protein transfer. Membranes were then washed with TBS buffer containing 0.1% Tween20 (TBS-T), blocked with 5% non-fat dry milk in TBS-T buffer for 1,5 h and then incubated with the corresponding primary antibodies overnight. The next day, membranes were washed with TBS-T buffer with gentle shaking 3 times for 5 min each, and incubated with the corresponding secondary antibody for 1,5 h in room temperature. After the incubation time, membranes were washed again 3 times for 5 min with the TBS-T buffer. Antibody signal was detected with 1.5 ml of ECL Millipore chemiluminescence Forte (Millipore, Burlington, MA, USA) for 5 min in the dark and signal intensity was visualized in a ChemiDoc<sup>™</sup>XRS and measured using the ImageLab Software (version 5.0.0.27863, Bio-Rad).

Function	Name	Full name	Manufacturer	Dilution	Secondary antibody
OXPHOS	Mitoprofile	CI complex: NDUFB8 CII complex: SDHB CIII complex: UQCRC2 CIV complex: MTCO1 CV complex: ATP5A	MS604, Abcam	1:800	Anti-mouse (#170-6516, Bio-Rad)
Antioxidant defense	GSR	Glutathione Reductase	sc-133245, Santa Cruz Biotechnology	1:500	Anti-mouse (#170-6516, Bio-Rad)
	PRX	Peroxiredoxin	sc-137222, Santa Cruz Biotechnology	1:200	Anti-mouse (#170-6516, Bio-Rad)
	САТ	Catalase	sc-271803, Santa Cruz Biotechnology	1:500	Anti-mouse (#170-6516, Bio-Rad)
	SOD2	Superoxide Dismutase 2	sc-137254, Santa Cruz Biotechnology	1:200	Anti-mouse (#170-6516, Bio-Rad)
Glycolysis	ENO1	Alpha-enolase	sc-100812, Santa Cruz Biotechnology	1:200	Anti-mouse (#170-6516, Bio-Rad)
	GAPDH	Glyceraldehyde-3- Phosphate Dehydrogenase	sc-32233, Santa Cruz Biotechnology	1:500	Anti-mouse (#170-6516, Bio-Rad)
	PKLR	Pyruvate Kinase, Liver	sc-166228, Santa Cruz Biotechnology	1:800	Anti-mouse (#170-6516, Bio-Rad)
Lactate metabolism	LDHB	Lactate Dehydrogenase B	NB110-57160, Novusbio	1:2000	Anti-rabbit (20402-1, BIOTIUM)

Transport/ import	SLC25A12	Solute Carrier Family 25 (mitochondrial carrier, Aralar), member 12	sc-271056, Santa Cruz Biotechnology	1:1500	Anti-mouse (#170-6516, Bio-Rad)
	TIM23	Mitochondrial Import Inner Membrane translocase subunit TIM23	611222, BD Biosciences	1:1250	Anti-mouse (#170-6516, Bio-Rad)
	SFXN3	Sideroflexin-3	15156-1-AP, Proteintech	1:3000	Anti-rabbit (20402-1, BIOTIUM)
Citric acid cycle	GSK-3β	Glycogen Synthase Kinase-3 beta	9315, Cell Signaling Technology	1:500	Anti-rabbit (20402-1, BIOTIUM)
	cs	Citrate Synthase, mitochondrial	GTX110624, GeneTex	1:1000	Anti-rabbit (20402-1, BIOTIUM)
	ISOD	lsocitrate Dehydrogenase	ab113232, Abcam	1:500	Anti-rabbit (20402-1, BIOTIUM)
	SDHA	Succinate Dehydrogenase	sc-98253, Santa Cruz Biotechnology	1:500	Anti-rabbit (20402-1, BIOTIUM)
Fission	DRP1	Dynamin- related Protein 1	sc-271583, Santa Cruz Biotechnology	1:500	Anti-mouse (#170-6516, Bio-Rad)
	FIS1	Mitochondrial Fission 1 protein	10956-1-AP, Proteintech	1:1000	Anti-mouse (#170-6516, Bio-Rad)
	SLC25A46	Mitochondrial outer membrane solute carrier protein	12277-1-AP, Proteintech	1:500	Anti-rabbit (20402-1, BIOTIUM)

	MFF	Mitochondrial Fission Factor	17090-1-AP, Proteintech	1:10000	Anti-rabbit (20402-1, BIOTIUM)
Biogenesis	TFAM	Transcription Factor A, mitochondrial	ab131607, Abcam	1:1500	Anti-rabbit (20402-1, BIOTIUM)
	PGC1a	Peroxisome Proliferator- Activated Receptor Gamma Coactivator-1 alpha	66369-1-lg, Proteintech	1:2000	Anti-mouse (#170-6516, Bio-Rad)
Mitophagy	PRKN	E3 Ubiquitin-protein Ligase parkin	sc-32282, Santa Cruz Biotechnology	1:500	Anti-mouse (#170-6516, Bio-Rad)
	PINK1	PTEN induced Kinase 1	23274-1-AP, Proteintech	1:500	Anti-rabbit (20402-1, BIOTIUM)
Fusion	MFN2	Mitofusin 2	12186-1-AP, Proteintech	1:2000	Anti-rabbit (20402-1, BIOTIUM)
	OPA1	Dynamin-like 120 kDa protein, mitochondrial	66583-1-lg, Proteintech	1:500	Anti-mouse (#170-6516, Bio-Rad)
Signaling	АМРА	AMPA Receptor (GluA2/3/4)	#2460, Cell Signaling Technology	1:1000	Anti-rabbit (20402-1, BIOTIUM)

**Table 3.** Primary and secondary antibodies used in Western blots. In this table, the antibody names, their manufacturer and code, the dilution and the type of secondary antibody used are shown.

# 3.6 Total antioxidant capacity (TAC)

TAC was estimated in the HAB EH and HAB NH hippocampus and hypothalamus as previously described by Ciuti and Liguri 2017. 30  $\mu$ l of each sample were used for TAC determination. Briefly, hippocampi samples and glutathione (GSH, used as calibrator) were

mixed with a pre-heated at 37°C chromogenic reagent in a microplate. Absorbance (ABS) at 630 nm was determined in a microplate reader (UT 2100C, MRC Ltd) and measurements were taken at 20 sec (T1) and 120 sec (T2) after the last reagent dispensing. TAC measured according to the equation:

TAC measurements were normalized based on mg protein per 30  $\mu$ l sample volume using the equation:

GSH [mmol/L]/protein mg = [(ABST2- ABST1) sample / (ABST2-ABST1) calibrator] \*Calibrator concentration [mmol/L]/protein mg

Reagent Components	V = 10 mL
0,1M phosphate buffer pH 8,3	7,5 mL
100% EtOH	1,77 mL
100mM EDTA	500 μL
H <sub>2</sub> 0 for injection	176,5 μL
Thesit (0,5g/5mL)	30 µL
DCIP (5mg/500µL)	23,5 μL

**Table 4.** Reagent dilution components for a volume of 10 ml and calibrator aliquots. The quantities of the components are multiplied according to the number of samples for the needed volume of reagent dilution.

## 3.7 Carbonylation assay

Protein carbonylation is the addition of reactive carbonyl groups, primarily aldehydes and ketones, to a protein structure that occurs from numerous chemical reactions, such as oxidation of several amino acid residues, protein backbone hydrolysis and glycoxidation or glycation reaction (Colombo et al. 2016). The detection and quantification of carbonyls in protein samples is an indirect yet helpful way to estimate the oxidative stress level of biological samples (Colombo et al. 2016). Among the numerous techniques used today to assess the amount of carbonylated proteins, our protocol is based on the use of 2,4dinitrophenylhydrazine (DNPH). When DNPH reacts readily with carbonyl groups, the stable 2,4-dinitrophenylhydrazone is produced, which can be measured spectrometrically with maximum absorption at 365–375 nm (Colombo et al. 2016).

Protein carbonylation was assessed in the prefrontal cortex of 7 HAB EH and 6 HAB NH according to Fagan et al. 1999 and Alomari et al. 2018. For this assay, two eppendorf tubes were prepared for each sample; the target and the blank. The target sample was used to measure the carbonylated proteins, whereas the blank sample served to subtract any artificial measurement. The appropriate volume of each sample that corresponds to 1.2mg/ml protein was used, and distilled H<sub>2</sub>O was filled until 500µl. Then, 500µl DNPH solution were added to the target samples and 500µl 2M HCl to the blank samples and all samples were vortexed every 10 min for 1 h. 500µl 30% trichloroacetic acid was added in all samples, vortexed and put on ice for 10 min. After centrifugation at 11000 g for 15 min at room temperature, the supernatant was discarded and 1:1 (v/v) ethanol / ethyl acetate was added to the pellet followed by vortexing and a 10 min incubation at room temperature. All samples were then centrifuged at 11000 g for 15 min at room temperature. The washing step of the samples, including the addition of the ethanol / ethyl acetate, the incubation and the centrifugation were repeated two more times until supernatants looked completely transparent to remove any free DNPH that could lead to overestimation of sample carbonylated protein content. Finally, 6M guanidine hydrochloride 20mM potassium dihydrogen (pH=2.3) was added to the pellets and samples were incubated at 37°C for 45 min.ABS was measured at 380 nm using a spectrophotometer (Spectro UV-11, MRC Ltd),) and the amount of carbonylated proteins was estimated as previously described by the following equations:

C = (ABS target-ABS blank)/22000 and n = C/V

To normalize to nmol of carbonylated proteins / mg protein, division with 1.2 mg was applied (since each sample has protein content 1.2mg/ml).
#### 3.8 RNA extraction

RNA extraction was performed in HAB EH and HAB NH hippocampal and hypothalamic samples using the NucleoSpin® RNA kit (Macherey-Nagel, Düren, Germany). All brain samples from -80 °C were homogenized with lysis buffer (lysis buffer RA1 and bmercaptoethanol) according to the manufacturer's instructions. After homogenization, each lysate was filtered in NucleoSpin® Filters and centrifuged to increase clarity. Ethanol 70% was added according to manufacturer's instructions to adjust the nucleic acid's binding conditions on the kit's columns. All lysates were again loaded to NucleoSpin® RNA columns and centrifuged. The DNase reaction mixture was added to the samples and left for 15 min incubation. followed by washes with RAW2 buffer and RA3 buffer along with centrifugation. Finally, for RNA elution, RNase-free H<sub>2</sub>O was added on the surface of the silica membrane. To enhance the amount of extracted RNA, this step was repeated twice using 30µl of H<sub>2</sub>O. The RNA quantity of each sample was measured with Nanodrop (Thermo Fischer Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA). All samples were then stored at -80°C.

#### <u>3.9 qRT-PCR</u>

All HAB EH and HAB NH hippocampal and hypothalamic samples and reagents were placed on ice. The preparation was performed in a PCR UV cabinet which was always UV sterilized and cleaned with ethanol before use. After that, master mixes and samples were prepared. For the polymerization reaction, the SYBR fast one-step qRT-PCR Universal Kit (Kapa Biosystems, Potters Bar, UK) was used according to the manufacturer's instructions. For each reaction, 20ng of the isolated RNA from each sample were used. Master mix and sample volumes were loaded on a FrameStar® Break-A-Way PCR plate (4titude, Wotton, UK), placed on ice racks. The plate was sealed with a Q-Stick™ qPCR Seal (4titude) and then centrifuged at 1400 g for 2 min at 4 °C. The reactions were performed in a CFX Connect™ Optics Module thermocycler (Bio-Rad) and the appropriate thermal protocol was run according to the PCR kit instructions and the primer melting temperatures (Table 5). All data acquired from qRT-PCRs were analyzed with the 2-<sup>ΔΔCT</sup> method (Livak and Schmittgen 2001). Primer sequences used are listed in Table 6. Signal Recognition Particle 14 (SRP14) was used as the reference gene.

Step	Temperature	Time		
RT reaction and cDNA synthesis	42°C	5 min		
Initial denaturation and polymerase activation	95°C	4 min		
Denaturation	95°C	35 cycles of 2 sec each		
Annealing	Х°С	35 cycles of 20 sec		
Elongation (melting curve analysis)	65°C	5 sec		
Denaturation	95°C	50 sec		
Cooling	4°C	Forever /until retrieval		

**Table 5.** Cycling conditions of qRT-PCR. The name of each step, the temperature (at X°C, X refers to the temperature under which the annealing would happen and primers would act) and the time that its step lasted are presented in the table.

Function	Primer	Full name gene	Forward primer sequence (F')	Reverse primer sequence (R')	Product length (bp)	Tm temperature
Reference Gene	srp14	Signal Recognition Particle 14	(F′) CAGCGTGTTCATCA CCCTCAA	(R') GGCTCTCAACAGA CACTTGTTTT	109	60°C
Fission	mff	Mitochondrial Fission Factor	(F') TCGGGTCTGTCCTC CCCATA	(R') CAACACAGGTCTG CGGTTTTCA	145	60°C
	fis1	Mitochondrial Fission 1 protein	(F') CAAAGAGGGAACAG CGGGACT	(R') ACAGCCCTCGCAC ATACTTT	95	61°C

	dnm2	Dynamin 2	(F') CAGGTGGAGACCA TCCGTAAC	(R') GGTAAGCCAGCAG CTCATGG	142	60°C
	mid51	Mitochondrial Dynamic Protein Of 51 Kda/ GeneCards Symbol: Mitochondrial Elongation Factor 1 (MIEF1)	(F') GGAAGCCTCAGGT GAGCAAT	(R') AACATAGCTGCTC CACCCAC	134	60°C
	slc25a46	Mitochondrial outer membrane solute carrier protein	(F') TCTGACGTTATACTT TACCC	(R') CAGTCTCTCATTCC CTCATA	137	60°C
	drp1	Dynamin-related protein 1	(F') TGACCAAAGTACCT GTAGGCG	(R') GCATCAGTACCCG CATCCAT	229	59°C
Fusion	opa1	Dynamin-like 120 kDa protein	(F') ACCTTGCCAGTTTA GCTCCC	(R') TTGGGACCTGCAG TGAAGAA	82	61°C
	oma1	OMA1 Zinc metalloendopeptidase	(F') AGTGGATACAGTCA AAGTTGCAG	(R') GTTTGAGAGCCTGT GGTATGAG	261	60°C
	mfn1	Mitofusin 1	(F') CAGATGTCACCACA GAGCTG	(R') TTGGAGAGCCGCT CATTC	142	60°C
	mfn2	Mitofusin 2	(F') CTGTGCCAGCAAGT TGACAT	(R') TTCCTGAGCAGTTT GGCTCT	113	60°C
Mitophagy	pink1	PTEN induced kinase 1	(F') GTGGACCATCTGGT TCAGCA	(R') TGAGTCCCACTCCA CAAGGA	75	60°C
	prkn	E3 ubiquitin-protein ligase parkin	(F') AAGAAGACCACCA AGCCTTGTC	(R') CAAACCAGTGATC TCCCATGC	157	60°C

Biogenesis	pgc1a	Peroxisome Proliferator-Activated Receptor Gamma Coactivator-1 alpha	(F') GTAAATCTGCGGGA TGATGG	(R') ATTGCTTCCGTCCA CAAAA	145	60°C
	tfam	Transcription Factor A, mitochondrial	(F') TCCACAGAACAGCT ACCCAA	(R') CCACAGGGCTGCA ATTTTCC	84	61°C
Stress-related	ddit-4	DNA damage inducible transcript 4	(F') GGAAGACTCCTCAT ACCTGG	(R') CTGGCTCGGCATG AGCAAACG	166	60°C
Apoptosis- related	bax	BCL2 Associated X, Apoptosis Regulator	(F') GACGGCAACTTCAA CTGGG	(R') CAACCACCCTGGT CTTGGA	170	60°C
	bcl2	BCL2 Apoptosis Regulator	(F') GTGGTGGAGGAAC TCTTCAGG	(G') GTTCCACAAAGGC ATCCCAGC	205	62°C

**Table 6.** Primers used. Gene and full names, the sequences of the forward (F') and reversed (R') primers, the length of the product acquired and the temperature of each reaction are shown.

# 3.10 Statistical analysis

Molecular data were statistically analyzed by GraphPad Prism 8.0.1 (GraphPad Software, San Diego, CA, USA). Normality was checked by the Shapiro-Wilk test. For variables that pass the Shapiro-Wilk test, data were considered normally distributed and unpaired t test with Welch's correlation (two-tailed) assuming unequal standard deviations was performed. Data that did not pass the Shapiro-Wilk test, were considered non-normally distributed and were analyzed by the non-parametric Mann-Whitney test (two-tailed). Correlation analysis was performed for all molecular data with selected behavioral parameters. Previous experiments in the lab showed that EH exerts an anxiolytic effect in HAB EH male mice compared to HAB NH male mice in two parameters of the DaLi test; the number of entries to the light compartment and the latency until the first entry to the light compartment. Therefore, all data from western blots, qRT-PCRs, TAC and carbonylation assays were correlated with these two DaLi parameters. For data with a normal distribution, Pearson correlation was used, and for non-normally distributed data, the non-parametric Spearman correlation was applied.

A P value < 0.05 indicates a statistically significant result, while a 0.05  $\leq$  P value < 0.1 a trend. All graphs are presented as mean  $\pm$ SEM.

### 4. <u>Results</u>

#### EH exerts anxiolytic effects in HAB male mice

Previous experiments in our lab have shown that EH exerts an anxiolytic effect in DaLi for HAB EH compared to HAB NH male mice (Fig. 4A,B). Also SPAT showed that HAB EH have a decreased SPA index ((time of social interaction / (time of non-social interaction + time of social interaction)) \* 100) compared to HAB NH male mice, but there was no change in NAB mice, indicating that EH affects sociability in a line-specific way (Fig. 4C). Since the anxiolytic effect of EH was observed only in HAB male mice and only in the DaLi, we further examined the HAB EH vs. HAB NH male mice at the molecular level. In the lab, the brain study of EH began with experiments in the prefrontal cortex to assess levels of proteins and mRNAs involved in mitochondrial dynamics and mitochondria-related functions conducted by diploma thesis student Grammenou Elena. All experiments conducted for this project are summarized in Table 1 (see Materials and Methods).



**Figure 4.** A) Early handling (EH) set up. The EH protocol was applied from PND 1 to PND 14. Within a 24 h day the handling was performed on predetermined time-points. SPAT was performed in PND31 while the other behavioral tests (DaLi, OFT, FST) were performed three days before sacrificing (PND 64-66). The 4 animal groups used are HAB EH: HAB early handling, HAB NH: HAB no handling, NAB EH: NAB early handling and NAB NH: NAB no handling. Prefrontal cortex (PFC), hippocampus (HIP) and hypothalamus (HYP) were selected for the molecular analysis. B) EH induced anxiolytic effects on HAB-EH male mice in the DaLi. HAB EH male mice enter more times in the DaLi light compartment (\*p=0.0240, HAB EH n=20, HAB NH n=17, NAB EH n=14 and NAB NH n=7) and have decreased latency to the first entry to the light compartment (\*p=0.0366, HAB EH n=19, HAB NH n=17, NAB EH n=14 and NAB NH n=17, NAB EH n=15 and NAB NH n=5). EH significantly decreases SPA index in HAB EH vs. HAB NH mice (\*p=0.0110) (Thomou\*, Nussbaumer\*, Grammenou\* et al. in preparation).

#### 4.1 Prefrontal cortex

# 4.1.1 EH did not alter mRNA levels of mitochondrial dynamics-related genes in the prefrontal cortex

Previous work performed by the diploma thesis student Grammenou Elena in the prefrontal cortex assessed mRNA levels of key mitochondrial dynamics genes, including *pgc1a* and *tfam* (mitochondrial biogenesis), *fis1* and *mff* (mitochondrial fission), *prkn* and *pink1* (mitochondrial mitophagy) and *opa1* (mitochondrial fusion). These experiments revealed that *pgc1a*, *fis1* and *prkn* had higher levels in HAB EH compared to HAB NH male mice. On the other hand, HAB EH had lower levels of *tfam* and *opa1* compared to HAB NH male mice (data not shown).

#### Mitochondrial fission

To further investigate mitochondrial dynamics changes at the mRNA level, we assessed additional players of mitochondrial dynamics. For mitochondrial fission, *drp1*, *dnm2*, *mid51* and *slc25a46* were tested. MID51 (Mitochondrial Dynamics Protein 51 KDa or Mitochondrial Elongation Factor 1) is a protein of the outer mitochondrial membrane that binds DRP1 in the endoplasmic reticulum-mitochondria contact sites and positively regulates mitochondrial fission (Losón et al. 2013). SLC25A46 is a mitochondrial metabolite carrier that

belongs to the SLC25 family. It is located on the outer mitochondrial membrane and facilitates fission and fusion events (Schuettpelz et al. 2023) (see Introduction page 20). In our experiments, no significant changes between HAB EH and HAB NH male mice were observed for these molecules (Fig. 5A).

#### Mitochondrial fusion

For mitochondrial fusion, GTPases *mfn1*, *mfn2* and the metalloendopeptidase *oma1* were tested (see Introduction page 20). No significant level alterations were observed between HAB EH and HAB NH male mice for these mRNAs (Fig. 5B).

#### Stress-related processes

In addition, *ddit4* was checked and no statistically significant differences were observed between HAB EH and HAB NH male mice (Fig. 5C).



**Figure 5.** No significant differences between HAB EH and HAB NH male mice in mRNA levels in the prefrontal cortex for mediators participating in A) mitochondrial fission drp1, dnm2, mid51 and slc25a46, B) fusion mfn1, mfn2, oma1 and C) stress-related processes ddit4.

# 4.1.2 mRNA levels do not significantly correlate with DaLi parameters in the prefrontal cortex of EH HAB male mice

In all molecular experiments, correlations between the DaLi behavioral data which were different between HAB EH and HAB NH mice (i.e. entries and latency to the first entry in the DaLi light compartment and the molecular outcomes was performed. For the qRT-PCRs in the prefrontal cortex, the correlation analysis for the HAB EH mice revealed only a negative trend between *mid51* mRNA levels and the latency to the first entry in the DaLi light compartment (Fig. 6). For the HAB NH male mice, *oma1* mRNA levels have a positive trend with the entries to the light compartment. All other correlations between the examined DaLi behaviors and the tested mRNA levels were not significant (data not shown).



**Figure 6.** mid51 mRNA levels show a negative trend when correlated with latency to the first entry in the light compartment in DaLi in the prefrontal cortex of HAB EH male mice, (Spearman r= -0,6000, p=0,0968 (T)).

# 4.1.3 The amount of carbonylated proteins correlates with DaLi parameters in the prefrontal cortex of HAB EH male mice

To evaluate oxidation damage, we performed the carbonylation protocol in prefrontal cortex samples of HAB EH and HAB NH male mice. Due to insufficient sample volume from some samples, the number of samples tested in the protocol is lesser than the total available prefrontal cortex samples (7 HAB EH and 6 HAB NH). Although the carbonylation assay did not reveal any significant changes between the HAB EH and HAB NH male mice (Fig. 7A), when correlating the data with the DaLi behavioral parameters we discovered interesting results. For the HAB EH mice, there is a trend towards positive correlation between carbonylated proteins and entries to the light compartment, and negative significant correlation for the number of carbonylated proteins and the latency to the light compartment (Fig. 7B,C). This suggests that higher anxiety-like behavior correlates with lower carbonylation. No significant correlation between DaLi parameters and protein carbonylation for HAB NH male mice was detected (data not shown).



**Figure 7.** Carbonylation assay in prefrontal cortex (PFC). A) No differences in the concentration of carbonylated proteins (nmoles/mg) in HAB EH vs. HAB NH male mice. B) There is a trend towards positive correlation between the amount of carbonylated proteins in the prefrontal cortex and the number of entries to the light compartment (Pearson r = 0,7502, p = 0,0521 (T)). C) The amount of carbonylated proteins in the prefrontal cortex to the light compartment (pearson r = 0,7502, p = 0,0521 (T)). C) The amount of carbonylated proteins in the prefrontal cortex negatively correlates with the latency to the light compartment (Pearson r = -0,7724, \*p = 0,0418).

Our experiments in the prefrontal cortex of HAB EH and HAB NH male mice revealed that there are no differences in the mRNA levels of mitochondrial dynamics participants that we tested. At the same time, even though we did not discover changes in the amount of carbonylated proteins between the two groups, we discovered correlations with behavior. For the HAB EH mice, there is a trend towards positive correlation between carbonylated proteins and entries to the light compartment as well as a negative significant correlation for the amount of carbonylated proteins and the latency to the light compartment.

## 4.2 Hippocampus

We further proceeded with our experiments in the hippocampus, since this brain region is implicated in fear and anxiety responses (Ghasemi et al. 2022). To evaluate the effects of EH at the protein level in the hippocampus, we used antibodies that assess diverse mitochondrial functions, including OXPHOS, mitochondrial import/transport, glycolysis, antioxidant defense and signaling as well as mitochondrial dynamics.

# 4.2.1 EH did not affect the OXPHOS protein levels in the hippocampus of HAB EH male mice

The relative levels of OXPHOS complex protein subunits in mouse hippocampal lysates were analyzed using the Mitoprofile antibody cocktail. As shown in Fig. 8, only two of the five OXPHOS complex subunits were detected in the hippocampi of HAB EH vs. HAB NH. Subunits of CI and CIII do not have statistically significant differences in expression between HAB EH and HAB NH animals.



*Figure 8.* Expression levels for proteins in CI (NDUFB8) and CIII (UQCRC2) of OXPHOS in the hippocampus of HAB EH vs. HAB NH male mice. EH does not alter the expression levels of these proteins between HAB EH and HAB NH male mice.

# 4.2.2 EH did not affect protein levels of glycolysis, energy metabolism, transport, antioxidant defense or neurotransmission pathways in the hippocampus of HAB male mice

## <u>Glycolysis</u>

We assessed the glycolytic enzymes PKLR, GAPDH and ENO1. PKLR showed a trend towards lower expression in HAB EH compared to HAB NH male mice. The other antibodies tested did not reveal significant protein expression differences between HAB EH and HAB NH mice (Fig. 9A).

# Energy metabolism

To explore metabolic pathways, we investigated Glycogen Synthase Kinase 3-beta (GSK-3 $\beta$ ), a ubiquitously expressed enzyme that phosphorylates and inactivates glycogen synthase and additional metabolic enzymes, transcription factors and translation factors (Welsh et al. 1996). We also investigated Krebs cycle using CS as well as lactate production using LDHB. We did not find statistically significant differences in the aforementioned proteins between the HAB EH and HAB NH group (Fig. 9B).



**Figure 9.** Expression levels for proteins in hippocampus of HAB EH vs. HAB NH male mice regarding with A) Glycolysis (PKLR, GAPDH and ENO1). There is a trend towards decreased PKLR protein expression in HAB EH compared to HAB NH male mice (*p* = 0,0892, Mann-Whitney test) but no significant differences are observed for the other proteins between HAB EH and HAB NH male mice. B) Energy metabolism (CS, GSK-3β and LDHB). No differences in these protein levels between HAB EH and HAB NH male mice.

# Mitochondrial transport

To test mitochondrial transport, we examined the expression levels of ARALAR, TIM23 and SFXN3. Using anti-ARALAR, anti-TIM23 and anti-SFXN3 antibodies, we did not detect any protein expression changes between the HAB EH and HAB NH groups (Fig. 10A).

## **Neurotransmission**

To assess changes in neurotransmission, the ionotropic glutamate-gated ion channel AMPA was examined. Using an anti-AMPA antibody, we did not detect protein expression changes between the HAB EH and HAB NH groups (Fig. 10B)

# Antioxidant defense

We did not find differences in the expression of the antioxidant enzymes CAT, GSR, SOD2 and PRX between HAB EH and HAB NH groups (Fig. 10C).



**Figure 10.** Expression levels for proteins in the hippocampus of HAB EH vs. HAB NH male mice, regarding A) Mitochondrial transport/import (ARALAR, TIM23 and SFXN3). B) Neurotransmission (AMPA) and C) Antioxidant defense (CAT, GSR, SOD2 and PRX). No significant differences were observed in expression of the aforementioned proteins between HAB EH and HAB NH male mice.

# 4.2.3 No mitochondrial dynamics changes in response to EH in the hippocampus of HAB male mice

#### Mitochondrial biogenesis

To assess biogenesis, PGC1a and TFAM were investigated. We found no statistically significant changes for these proteins between HAB EH and HAB NH male mice (Fig. 11A).

## Mitochondrial fission

To investigate fission, we studied the protein levels of DRP1, FIS1, SLC25A46 and MFF. Western blots for the aforementioned proteins did not reveal statistically significant changes between HAB EH and HAB NH mice (Fig. 11B).



*Figure 11.* Protein expression levels in hippocampus for mediators participating in mitochondrial A) biogenesis (PGC1a and TFAM) and B) fission (DRP1, FIS1, SLC25A46 and MFF). No significant differences were observed in these protein levels between HAB EH vs. HAB NH male mice.

## Mitochondrial fusion

We used antibodies for the GTPases MFN2 and OPA1 to investigate changes in fusion. No significant expression differences were identified between HAB EH and HAB NH mice for these proteins (Fig. 12A).

## <u>Mitophagy</u>

PRKN and PINK1 were examined for mitophagy. For PRKN, there is a trend towards increased expression in HAB EH mice compared to HAB NH mice. PINK1 did not have significant protein expression differences between the two groups (Fig. 12B).



**Figure 12.** No alterations in protein expression of mitochondrial dynamics proteins in the hippocampus of HAB compared to NAB male mice for A) fusion (OPA1 and MFN2) and B) mitophagy (PINK1). There is a trend towards higher PRKN protein expression in HAB EH vs. HAB NH male mice (p=0.0832 (T), Welch's test).

# 4.2.4 Protein expression correlates with DaLi behavioral parameters in the hippocampus of HAB male mice

For each protein tested in the hippocampi of HAB EH and HAB NH male mice, we examined the correlation between protein expression and latency to the first entry as well as the number of entries in DaLi for HAB EH and the HAB NH male mice. AMPA and SFXN3 protein expression showed a significant negative correlation with the latency to the light compartment for HAB EH male mice (Fig. 13A,B). On the other hand, for HAB EH male mice, AMPA and LDHB exhibited a trend towards positive correlation with the number of entries to the light compartment (Fig.13C). For HAB NH male mice in the hippocampus, protein levels of CI protein (NDUFB8) show a significant positive correlation with the entries to the light compartment, whereas protein levels of PRX have a negative trend with latency to the light compartment (data not shown).





**Figure 13.** Correlation analysis between the behavioral parameters of DaLi and protein expression levels in the hippocampus of HAB EH male mice. A) AMPA protein expression levels significantly negatively correlate with the latency to the first entry in the light compartment (Pearson r = -0,6352, \*p = 0,0357). B) SFXN3 protein expression levels have a trend towards negative correlation with the latency to the first entry in the light compartment (Pearson r = -0,5419, p = 0,0851 (T)). C) Trends towards positive correlation with the number of entries to the light compartment and protein levels of AMPA (Pearson r = -0,5637, p = 0,0709 (T)), LDHB (Pearson r = 0,5373, p = 0,0883(T)) and trend towards negative correlation with the number of entries and PRKN protein levels (Pearson r = -0,5655, p = 0,0885 (T)).

#### 4.2.5 EH alters *slc25a46* mRNA levels in hippocampus of HAB male mice

#### Mitochondrial biogenesis

qRT-PCRs for *tfam* and *pgc1a* showed no significant alterations in the mRNA expression levels between HAB EH and HAB NH male mice (Fig. 14).



*Figure 14.* mRNA expression levels for mediators of mitochondrial biogenesis. No significant differences in pgc1a or tfam mRNA levels in HAB EH vs. HAB NH male mice.

#### Mitochondrial fission

For fission, mRNA levels of *drp1*, *fis1*, *mff*, *dnm2*, *mid51* and *slc25a46* were investigated. From these, only *slc25a46* showed increased mRNA levels in HAB EH compared to HAB NH male mice. All other mRNA levels tested did not have significant changes between the two groups (Fig. 15).



**Figure 15.** mRNA expression levels for mediators participating in mitochondrial fission. Increased slc25a46 mRNA levels (\*p= 0,0362, Welch's test) in HAB EH vs. HAB NH male mice. No significant differences in mRNA levels of drp1, dnm2, mff, fis1 and mid51 in HAB EH vs. HAB NH male mice.

## Mitochondrial fusion

For fusion, the key players *mfn1*, *mfn2*, *opa1* and *oma1* were assessed. Here, we did not observe significant differences between HAB EH and HAB NH male mice (Fig.16).



*Figure 16.* mRNA expression levels for mediators of mitochondrial fusion. No significant differences in mfn1, mfn2, opa1 and oma1 mRNA levels detected in HAB EH vs. HAB NH male mice.

#### <u>Mitophagy</u>

For mitophagy, the two key mediators *prkn* and *pink1* were investigated, but no significant alterations in their expression levels were identified between HAB EH and HAB NH male mice (Fig. 17A).

#### Stress-related processes

The final gene tested by qRT-PCRs in the hippocampus was the stress-related *ddit4*. No significant changes were detected for the *ddit4* mRNA levels between HAB EH vs. HAB NH male mice (Fig. 17B).



*Figure 17.* mRNA expression levels for mediators participating in A) mitochondrial mitophagy (prkn and pink1) and B) stress-related processes (ddit4). No significant differences in these mRNAs were detected in HAB EH vs. HAB NH male mice.

# 4.2.6 mRNA expression levels correlate with DaLi behavioral parameters in the hippocampus of HAB EH male mice

mRNA expression levels in the hippocampus were correlated with the behavioral parameters of DaLi, namely the latency to the first entry and number of entries in the light compartment. For HAB EH male mice, two of all mRNAs tested revealed significant correlations with behavior parameters. The mitophagy regulator *pink1* as well as the mitochondrial fusion mediator *mfn2*, show a positive correlation with the entries in the DaLi

light compartment (Fig. 18). In HAB NH male mice, *mfn2* mRNA levels show a trend towards positive correlation with the number of entries to the light compartment, whereas mRNA levels of *fis1* and *opa1* positively correlate with the number of entries (data not shown).



**Figure 18.** mRNA expression levels positively correlate with DaLi behavioral parameters in HAB EH male mice. mRNA levels of pink1 (Pearson r = 0,6730, \*p = 0,0469) and mfn2 (Pearson r = 0,7358, \*p = 0,0238) correlate with the entries to the light compartment.

# 4.2.7 TAC correlates with DaLi behavioral parameters in the hippocampus of EH HAB male mice

To investigate changes in TAC, all hippocampal samples of HAB EH and HAB NH male mice were compared and we found no differences in TAC levels between the two groups (Fig. 19A). Correlating TAC values of the HAB EH male mice with the behavioral data of the DaLi test, we discovered that there is a positive correlation between TAC levels and the entries in the light compartment as well as a trend towards negative correlation between TAC levels and the latency to the light compartment. These data indicate that the less anxious mice are, the more antioxidant capacity they have (Fig. 19B). For the HAB NH male mice, TAC values also significantly positively correlate with the latency to the light compartment, indicating that the less anxious HAB NH mice have lower antioxidant capacity (data not shown).



**Figure 19.** Total antioxidant capacity (TAC) assay in the hippocampus (HIP). A) No significant differences in the TAC values between HAB EH vs. HAB NH male mice. B) For HAB EH male mice TAC levels significantly positively correlate with the entries to the light compartment (Pearson r = 0,6056, \*p = 0,0483) and have a trend towards negative correlation with the latency to the first entry in the light compartment (Pearson r = -0,5840, p = 0,0592 (T)).

Overall, our results in the hippocampus showed that at the protein level, there is a trend towards higher PRKN expression and a trend towards lower PKLR expression in HAB EH compared to HAB NH male mice. At the same time, AMPA protein levels negatively correlate with latency to the light compartment and have a positive trend with the number of entries, whereas protein levels of PRKN, LDHB and SFXN3 have trends with DaLi behavioral parameters in HAB EH male mice. At the RNA level, *slc25a46* is significantly higher in HAB EH vs. HAB NH male mice and mRNA levels of *pink1* and *mfn2* positively correlate with entries to the light compartment in HAB EH male mice. Moreover, TAC values in the hippocampus of HAB EH male mice significantly positively correlate with the entries to the light compartment.

# 4.3 Hypothalamus

#### 4.3.1 EH significantly altered PKLR protein levels in mouse hypothalamus

Hypothalamus is a brain region implicated in stress and anxiety and emerging evidence shows that hypothalamic nuclei play a critical role in energy metabolic control (Schneeberger et al. 2014; Zorzano and Claret 2015). Furthermore, almost all stress response hormones are produced and secreted by hypothalamus (Kageyama et al. 2021). Therefore, we wanted to assess EH induced changes in protein levels in the hypothalamus of HAB EH vs. HAB NH male mice.

#### **OXPHOS**

Mitoprofile antibody cocktail for the five OXPHOS subunits was also used in hypothalamus. Proteins from Complexes CI, CII, CIII and CV did not differ in expression in HAB EH vs. HAB NH male mice (Fig. 20).



*Figure 20.* Expression levels of protein subunit complexes CI (NDUFB8), CII (SDHB), CIII (UQCRC2) and CV (ATP5A) show no significant changes in the hypothalamus of HAB EH vs. HAB NH male mice.

## **Glycolysis**

From glycolytic enzymes, protein expression levels of PKLR, GAPDH and ENO1 were investigated. PKLR levels were significantly increased in HAB EH compared to HAB NH male mice. Furthermore, ENO1 revealed a trend towards increased expression in HAB EH compared to HAB NH. GAPDH did not significantly differ between HAB EH and HAB NH mice (Fig. 21).



**Figure 21.** Expression level differences of glycolytic enzymes in HAB EH and HAB NH male mice. Significant changes are observed in the protein expression of PKLR (\*p= 0,0150, Welch's test) and a trend for ENO1 (p= 0,0661 (T), Welch's test) in HAB EH vs HAB NH male mice. EH does not alter protein levels of GAPDH or LDHB between HAB EH and HAB NH males.

#### Energy metabolism

Since we observed protein expression changes in glycolytic PKLR and ENO1, we then explored alterations in metabolic processes downstream from glycolysis, such as the glycogen synthesis, lactate production and Krebs cycle. For this purpose, the glycogen metabolism GSK-3β protein, the pyruvate to lactate conversion enzyme LDHB, as well as proteins of the Krebs cycle CS, ISOD and SDHA (see Introduction page 17) were investigated. We did not detect significant changes in these protein expression levels between HAB EH and HAB NH male mice (Fig. 22).



*Figure 22.* Expression levels of proteins regarding energy metabolism-related processes in hypothalamus. No significant alterations in these protein expression levels between HAB EH and HAB NH male mice.

#### Mitochondrial transport

The protein expression of TIM23, SFXN3 and ARALAR were investigated for the study of mitochondrial import/transport. There was a trend towards increased ARALAR protein expression in HAB EH vs. NAB NH male mice. For SFXN3 and TIM23 we did not detect any expression changes when comparing HAB EH and HAB NH groups (Fig. 23).



**Figure 23.** Expression levels of proteins participating in mitochondrial transport and import for HAB EH and HAB NH male mice. There is a trend towards higher ARALAR expression in HAB EH compared to HAB NH male mice (p = 0,0871(T), Welch's test) but no significant expression alterations in SFXN3 and TIM23 in the hypothalamus between HAB EH and HAB NH male mice.

#### Antioxidant defense

Similar to the hippocampus, proteins with antioxidant properties were also investigated in the hypothalamus. CAT, GSR, SOD2 and PRX were assessed but no significant expression differences were observed of these antioxidant proteins between the HAB EH and HAB NH groups (Fig. 24).



*Figure 24.* Expression levels of antioxidant enzymes in the hypothalamus. EH does not alter these protein expression levels between HAB EH and HAB NH male mice.

# 4.3.2 EH affects the protein levels of mitochondrial dynamics mediators in the hypothalamus of HAB EH male mice

# Mitochondrial biogenesis

For mitochondrial biogenesis, the key players PGC1a and TFAM were assessed. We found a significant increase in the protein levels of PGC1a in HAB EH compared to HAB NH mice, whereas TFAM protein levels did not change significantly between the two groups (Fig. 25).



**Figure 25.** Expression levels of mitochondrial biogenesis proteins. Increased protein expression of PGC1a (\*p=0.0102, Welch's t-test) and no significant differences in TFAM protein levels in the hypothalamus in HAB EH vs. HAB NH male mice.

#### Mitochondrial fission

For fission, we assessed the protein levels of DRP1, FIS1, SLC25A46 and MFF. We found that hypothalamic DRP1 protein expression is significantly higher in HAB EH compared to HAB NH male mice. No statistically significant changes between HAB EH and HAB NH mice were observed for the other fission-related proteins assessed (Fig. 26).



**Figure 26.** Expression levels for proteins implicated in mitochondrial fission. Increased protein expression of DRP1 (\*p=0.0221, Welch's t-test) in, but no significant alterations in the protein levels of SLC25A46, FIS1 and MFF in the hypothalamus of HAB EH vs. HAB NH male mice.

#### Mitochondrial fusion

To investigate fusion, we assessed MFN2 and OPA1. OPA1 hypothalamic protein levels were significantly higher in HAB EH vs. HAB NH male mice. No significant differences for MFN2 were identified between HAB EH and HAB NH mice (Fig. 27A).

## **Mitophagy**

For mitophagy we assessed protein levels of PRKN and PINK1, but there were no significant alterations between HAB EH and HAB NH male mice (Fig. 27B).



**Figure 27.** A) Increased protein expression of OPA1 (\*\*p=0.0030, Welch's t-test) and no difference in the protein levels of MFN2 in the hypothalamus in HAB EH vs. HAB NH male mice. B) No significant differences in protein levels of PRKN and PINK1 in HAB EH vs. HAB NH male mice in the hypothalamus.

# 4.3.3 Protein expression correlates with DaLi behavioral parameters in the hypothalamus of HAB EH mice

For each protein assessed in hypothalamus of HAB EH vs. HAB NH male mice, we examined the correlation between the protein expression levels and DaLi behavioral parameters (entries and latency to the light compartment). From all proteins tested, CS exhibited a strong negative correlation with the entries to the light compartment in HAB EH male mice (Fig. 28A). ISOD levels showed a significant positive correlation with the entries to the light compartment and a negative correlation with the latency until the first entry to the light compartment for HAB EH male mice (Fig. 28A). Moreover, ARALAR levels show a significant positive correlation with the latency to the light compartment in the HAB EH male mice (Fig. 28B). For HAB NH male mice, OXPHOS subunit CI protein levels (NDUFB8) show a positive trend with the number of entries and CV protein levels (ATP5A) negatively correlate with the latency to the light compartment. Furthermore, DRP1 levels show a positive trend with the latency to the light compartment (data not shown).



**Figure 28.** A) CS protein levels negatively correlate with entries to the light compartment (Pearson r = -0,8695, \*\*\*p = 0,0005) in the hypothalamus of HAB EH male mice., ISOD protein expression level significantly correlate with entries to the light compartment (Pearson r = 0,6172, \*p = 0,0431) and with latency to the light compartment (Pearson r = -0,6092, \*p = 0,0467) in the hypothalamus of HAB EH male mice. B) ARALAR protein levels correlate with latency to the light compartment (Pearson r = 0,6731, \*p = 0,0232) in the hypothalamus of HAB EH male mice.

#### 4.3.4 EH alters tfam mRNA levels in HAB EH male mice hypothalamus

Following protein analysis, we wanted to explore gene expression changes in the mitochondrial dynamics machinery by examining mRNAs of mitochondrial dynamics players.

#### Mitochondrial biogenesis

qRT-PCR analysis showed a decrease in the mRNA levels of *tfam* in HAB EH vs. HAB NH males. There are no significant alterations in *pgc1a* mRNA levels between HAB EH and HAB NH male mice (Fig. 29).



**Figure 29.** mRNA expression levels for mitochondrial biogenesis mediators. Tfam mRNA expression levels are significantly lower in HAB EH compared to HAB NH male mice (\*p=0,0240, Welch's t-test), while there are no significant differences in pgc1a mRNA levels in HAB EH vs. HAB NH male mice in the hypothalamus.

## Mitochondrial fission

For fission, the mRNA levels of *drp1, fis1, mff and slc25a46* were investigated and no significant changes were detected between HAB EH and HAB NH male mice (Fig. 30).



*Figure 30.* mRNA expression levels for mitochondrial fission mediators. No significant differences are observed in mRNA levels of drp1, fis1, slc25a46 and mff between HAB EH and HAB NH male mice in the hypothalamus.

## Mitochondrial fusion

For fusion, only *mfn2* and *opa1* were tested. Here, we did not observe any significant differences between HAB EH and HAB NH male mice (Fig. 31A).

#### <u>Mitophagy</u>

The two most important mitophagy mediators *prkn* and *pink1* were investigated, but no significant alterations in their expression levels were identified between HAB EH and HAB NH male mice (Fig. 31B).



*Figure 31.* mRNA expression levels for mediators of mitochondrial A) fusion (mfn2 and opa1) and B) mitophagy (prkn and pink1). No significant differences in mRNA levels were reported in HAB EH vs. HAB NH male mice in the hypothalamus.

#### **Apoptosis**

From our protein analysis, we discovered that protein levels of DRP1, OPA1 and PGC1a are higher, whereas *tfam* mRNA levels are lower in HAB EH male mice compared to HAB NH male mice in the hypothalamus. This may reflect alterations in mitochondrial numbers between the two groups. Furthermore, mitochondrial biogenesis is a process that is tightly regulated with apoptosis due to the link of the latter with fission/fusion machinery (Youle and Karbowski 2005). Based on these data, we assessed whether there are alterations in the apoptosis machinery in the hypothalamus by comparing the mRNA levels of the apoptosis-related gene *bcl2* and *bax*. BCL2 protein acts as an anti-apoptotic factor by inhibiting cell death and thus promoting cell survival. BAX is a pro-apoptotic factor that when activated, translocates to mitochondria and promotes initiation of apoptosis (Qian et al. 2022). No significant differences were detected at the levels of these mRNAs between HAB EH vs. HAB NH male mice (Fig. 32).



*Figure 32. mRNA expression levels for apoptosis-related mediators. No significant differences in mRNA levels are reported for bcl2 and bax in HAB EH vs. HAB NH male mice in the hypothalamus.* 

# 4.3.5 mRNA expression levels do not correlate with DaLi behavioral parameters in the hypothalamus of HAB EH male mice

mRNA expression levels in the hypothalamus were examined for correlation with the DaLi parameters number of entries and latency to the first entry in the light compartment. For HAB EH male mice, *fis1* levels showed a positive trend with the entries to the light compartment as well as a negative trend with the latency to the light compartment (Fig. 33A). *drp1* levels showed a positive trend with the latency to the light compartment whereas *prkn* mRNA expression levels showed a negative trend with latency to the light compartment (Fig. 33B). For HAB NH male mice *pgc1a* mRNA levels are significantly correlated with DaLi, showing a negative correlation with the entries to the light compartment and a positive correlation with the latency to the light compartment and a positive correlation with the latency to the light compartment and a positive correlation with the latency to the light compartment and a positive correlation with the latency to the light compartment and a positive correlation with the latency to the light compartment (data not shown).





**Figure 33.** A) fis1 mRNA levels show a positive trend with the number of entries to the light compartment (Pearson r = 0,6303, p = 0,0688 (T)), as well as a negative trend with the latency to the light compartment (Spearman r = -0,6667, p = 0,0589 (T)) in the hypothalamus of HAB EH male mice. B) Positive trend with the latency to the light compartment and mRNA levels of drp1 (Spearman r = 0,6167, p = 0,0857 (T)) and negative trend with the latency to the light compartment and mRNA levels of prkn (Spearman r = -0,6833, p = 0,0503 (T)) in the hypothalamus of HAB EH male mice.

#### 4.3.6 EH does not alter TAC levels in the hypothalamus of HAB EH male mice

To assess the antioxidant capacity, all hypothalamic samples of HAB EH and HAB NH male mice were compared and we found no difference in TAC levels between the two groups (Fig. 34). When correlating TAC values of the HAB EH male mice with the behavioral data of the DaLi, there was no significant correlation with any of the behavioral parameters assessed. Interestingly, there was a strong negative significant correlation between hypothalamic TAC values and hippocampal TAC values, but that was observed only for the HAB NH male mice and not for the HAB EH (data not shown).



*Figure 34.* Total antioxidant capacity (TAC) assay in hypothalamus (HYP) shows no significant differences in TAC values in HAB EH vs. HAB NH male mice.

Our findings in the hypothalamus of HAB EH and HAB NH male mice reveal that EH affects players of mitochondrial biogenesis, fission and fusion as well as of glycolysis in both protein and mRNA levels. More specifically, we discovered that HAB EH male mice have significantly higher protein levels of PGC1a, DRP1, OPA1 and PKLR and have a trend towards higher protein levels of ARALAR and ENO1 compared to HAB NH male mice. ARALAR protein levels also positively correlate with the latency to the DaLi light compartment. At the same time, protein levels of Krebs cycle CS and ISOD significantly correlate with DaLi behavioral parameters. Also, we found that HAB EH male mice have lower mRNA levels of *tfam* compared to HAB NH male mice and mRNA levels of *fis1, prkn* and *drp1* have trends when correlating with DaLi behavioral parameters. We did not detect any significant differences in TAC values between HAB EH vs. HAB NH male mice as well as no significant correlations with DaLi behavioral parameters.

#### 5. Discussion

Studies of early life manipulations such as the EH have mainly focused on the behavioral and hormonal alterations in adult mice, but little is known about the implication of brain mitochondrial dynamics in EH-induced regulation. The research technician Nussbaumer Markus and the diploma thesis student Grammenou Elena, have established the protocol of EH in the lab, studying EH effects in NAB and HAB pups. Pups were handled for 15 min from PND1 to PND14. On PND31, SPAT took place and when pups reached adulthood the behavioral tests of DaLi, OFT and FST were performed to elucidate the impact of EH on locomotion, anxiety-like and depression-like behavior. As EH exerts anxiolytic effects in HAB EH compared to HAB NH male mice, the subsequent molecular study focused on HAB EH and HAB NH male mice. We found significant alterations in the mRNA levels of the mitochondrial dynamics machinery in HAB EH vs. HAB NH male mice, including *tfam* and *pgc1a* (biogenesis), *opa1* (fusion), *fis1* (fission) and *prkn* (mitophagy). These results suggest an implication of mitochondrial dynamics in the EH-driven anxiolytic effects in the prefrontal cortex which we followed up in the present work.

Here, we investigated additional molecular effects of EH in adult HAB male mice. We addressed a series of mitochondrial parameters, such as OXPHOS, antioxidant defense, mitochondrial transport/import, energy metabolism, mitochondrial dynamics, as well as nonmitochondrial-related processes, such as glycolysis and neurotransmission. We focused on the prefrontal cortex, hippocampus and hypothalamus due to their involvement in anxiety circuits. In the prefrontal cortex, we continued the mRNA analysis by including additional mitochondrial dynamics mediators. We also performed a carbonylation assay to assess changes in oxidative damage. In the hippocampus and hypothalamus, we assessed both protein and mRNA levels of molecules implicated in the aforementioned mitochondrial and mitochondrial-related processes. In addition, to look into the oxidative status, we performed a TAC assay in both regions. Our data reveal altered levels of glycolysis enzymes, and mitochondrial biogenesis, fission and fusion proteins as well as significant correlations with DaLi behavioral parameters both at the protein and mRNA levels mainly in the hypothalamus of HAB EH and HAB NH male mice, indicating a region-specific, EH-driven molecular effect.

#### 5.1 EH studies in the literature

Previous studies of EH have been performed in rodents and predominantly in rats (see Table 7 for a summary of the existing EH studies). Dating back in 1957, Seymour Levine was among the first researchers who studied early life manipulations. It has been suggested that his work was influenced by Sigmund Freud's hypothesis according to which traumatic experiences in infancy can lead to the formation of psychopathologies in later life (Raineki et al. 2014). Levine stated that a brief daily separation of the rat pup from the mother for the first weeks of life, results in reduced stress reactivity in adulthood, due to a greater ability of the organism to adapt to psychological and physiological stress (Levine 1957). Follow-up studies applied the EH protocol for different PNDs in both male and female Wistar rats revealing that EH effects may appear in less than 10 days after birth (Denenberg and Karas 1960, 1961; Denenberg and Morton 1962). These EH induced effects included alterations in pup body weight and avoidance learning (Denenberg and Karas 1960, 1961; Denenberg and Morton 1962), while further studies discovered that early handled male Wistar rats had lower anxiety-related behavior in the EPM (Meerlo et al. 1999, Kiosteraki et al. 2009) and in OFT (Madruga et al. 2006).

The EH-induced reduction of anxiety-like behavior, although replicated among laboratories, is not always observed. For example, Silveira et al., reported that EH and NH male and female Wistar rats, had no differences in their performance in DaLi and plus maze test (Silveira et al. 2005). Stevenson et al., found no alterations between EH and NH female Lister-hooded rats in OFT (Stevenson et al. 2009). Another study of Akatsu et al. showed that EH and NH C57BL/6NCr male mice do not show significant alterations in the time spent in the open arms of EPM (Akatsu et al. 2015). It is likely that the rodent strain, the individual differences, the variations in the EH protocol, the different parameters of behavioral and molecular experiments are factors that contribute to differences in findings. Furthermore, the appropriate control group for EH has been a matter of debate. Some define the control group as the standard animal facility rearing condition, while others use completely undisturbed animals that are not handled at all, neither for housekeeping nor for experimental purposes, which may also lead to varying results (Pryce and Feldon 2003; Raineki et al. 2014). In our case, the NH control group is the standard animal facility rearing condition. Molecularly, Levine stated that Sprague-Dawley handled male rats had lower adrenal gland weight than no handled rats (Levine 1957). Moreover, one of the most reproducible molecular outcomes of EH is the lower levels of plasma CORT in response to a stressor or a challenge along with the faster recovery to the basal levels. These results have been observed in male Wistar rats (Meerlo et al. 1999), male Sprague-Dawley rats (Vallee et al. 1997), male Long-Evans rats (Meerlo et al. 1988; Plotsky and Meaney 1993) as well as in male NMRI mice (Luchetti et al. 2015). Furthermore, the first study that documented an effect of EH on cytokine production in adulthood was by Bilbo et al. They had previously demonstrated that *E.coli* infection in neonatal rats was associated with impaired memory later in adulthood and in 2007 they combined EH with *E.coli* infection to determine whether the adult memory impairment (associated with neonatal-infection) could be avoided. This led to the discovery that EH prevented increased expression of microglial cell markers and interleukin 1 beta-related genes in the hippocampus in adult rats infected as neonates (Bilbo et al. 2007).

Until today, most of the EH studies in rats focus mainly on hormonal alterations, on the mRNA levels of neurotransmitter receptors or benzodiazepine receptors as well as changes on maternal and pup behavior (see Table 7 for a summary of the existing EH studies in rodents). Studies on the effects of EH in mice are mainly conducted in C57BL/6J, DBA/2J and NMRI mouse strains. Flanigan and Cook subjected male and female C57BL/6J and DBA/2J mice to a 30 min EH paradigm from PND12 to PND20 and observed reduced anxiety-like behavior in handled C57BL/6J, but not in DBA/2J mice (Flanigan and Cook 2011). In our case, our observed EH-induced anxiolytic effects in HAB EH male mice, are in agreement with previous literature in other mouse strains. To our knowledge, HAB mice in the context of EH have not yet been investigated. More importantly, even though HAB mice have been already studied at the molecular level (Kromer 2005; Landgraf et al. 2007; Zhang et al. 2011; Filiou et al. 2011, 2014), this is the first study to molecularly characterize EH mice deriving from a high anxiety background.
ANIMAL MODEL	STRAINS/LINES	SEX	HANDLING PARADIGM	EXPERIMENTAL GROUPS	BEHAVIORAL RESULTS	MOLECULAR RESULTS	REFERENCES
		m + f	30 min handling from PND12 to PDN20	EARLY HANDLING (EH) vs. NO HANDLING (NH)	EZM: ↓ anxiety-like behavior in EH compared to NH		Flanigan & Cook, 2011
MOUSE	C57BL/6J	Е	15 min handling from PND1 to PDN14	EARLY HANDLING (EH) vs. NO HANDLING (NH)/ PRENATAL STRESS (PS) vs. NO PRENATAL STRESS (NPS)	<ul> <li>EPM: no alteration in the time spend in open arms between EH and NH mice</li> <li>no effect of handling in the PS or NPS mice</li> <li>1 the frequency of maternal pup licking behavior for EH mice</li> </ul>	HIP: EH 1 mRNA expression of 5-HT receptors at early postnatal stages	Akatsu et al., 2015
	DBA/2J	m + f	30 min handling from PND12 to PDN20	EARLY HANDLING (EH) vs. NO HANDLING (NH)	EZM: no change in the anxiety-like behavior between EH and NH mice		Flanigan & Cook, 2011
	NMRI	Ε	15 min handling from PND1 to PDN14	EARLY HANDLING (EH) vs. NO HANDLING (NH)	<ul> <li>PMT: J emotionality in adults EH</li> <li>EH pups received î nursing and maternal care during the first PNDs</li> </ul>	Serum: ↓ CORT response to novelty in EH m	Luchetti et al., 2015
		m + f	3 min handling from PND1 to PDN10, PND11 to PND20	EARLY HANDLING (EH) vs. NO HANDLING (NH)	• EH rats for PND1-10 have 1 body weight, avoidance learning, and survival capability than rats handled during PND10-20		Denenberg & Karas, 1960, 1961
		m + f	3 min handling from PND1 to PDN21	EARLY HANDLING (EH) vs. NO HANDLING (NH)	<ul> <li>better avoidance learning in EH</li> <li>latent inhibition in both EH and NH f, but only in EH m</li> </ul>		Weiner et al., 1985
RAT		Е	15 min handling from PND1 to PDN21	EARLY HANDLING (EH) vs. NO HANDLING (NH)	<ul> <li>EPM: EH 1 time in the open arms than NH.</li> <li>↓ conditioned fear response in EH</li> </ul>	CFT and MNC: J adrenaline, prolactin & CORT response in EH	Meerlo et al., 1999
		m + f	10 min handling from PND1 to PDN10	EARLY HANDLING (EH) vs. NO HANDLING (NH) vs. EH + tactile stimulation (10 min/day)	<ul> <li>PMT &amp; DaLi: no altered performance in EH and EH + tactile stimulation</li> <li>EH and EH + tactile stimulation rats consumed î sweet food than NH</li> </ul>		Silveira et al., 2005
	Wistar rats	Ε	3 min handling from PND1 to PDN10	EARLY HANDLING (EH) vs. MATERNAL SEPARATION (MS) vs. NO HANDLING (NH)	<ul> <li>OFT: 1 locomotion and tentries to the central zone in EH</li> <li>EH 4 innate and learned fear compared to NH and MS m rats</li> </ul>	VTA: no differences in the optical density of TH or the number of TH-IR neurons between EH,MS and NH	Madruga et al., 2006

Kiosterakis et al., 2009	Stamatakis et al., 2009	Reis et al., 2014	Levine, 1957	Vallee et al., 1997	Fenoglio et al., 2004	Bilbo et al., 2007	Meaney et al., 1988
amygdala, VTA, HIP & PFC: EH neonates have 1 levels of MORs	HIP, amygdala & cortex: no changes in NR1 or NR2A mRNA expression but 1 NR2B mRNA and NR2B binding levels in of EH m and f rats	• HIP: † BDNF in EH m • OB: ↓ NA of EH f	l adrenal glands weight in EH	Plasma: ↓ CORT secretion in response to stress in EH	Amygdala: 1 CRF mRNA expression in EH     PVN: 1 CRF mRNA expression in EH	HIP: EH rats infected as neonates prevented the increase in microglial cell marker reactivity and the exaggerated brain IL-1β production	<ul> <li>HIP: 1 GR concentrations in EH</li> <li>Plasma: 1 CORT in EH rats at 6, 12 and 24 months of age</li> <li>at all ages NH rats secreted 1 glucocorticoids in response to stress than EH rats</li> </ul>
EPM: 🕽 anxiety-like behavior in EH		1 nest-building behavior and licking grooming of the dams to the pups immediately after EH	<ul> <li>1 water consumption in EH</li> <li>1 body weights in EH at weaning and at PND70 (adulthood)</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Y-maze &amp; OFT: J anxiety-like behavior in EH</li> <li>MWM: no differences in the cognitive performance between EH &amp; NH</li> </ul>		<ul> <li>EH prevented LPS-induced memory impairment in a context-fear task in adult rats infected as neonates.</li> <li>MWM: EH improved spatial learning and memory</li> <li>EPM: J anxiety in EH</li> </ul>	f spatial learning and memory in aged EH
EARLY HANDLING (EH) vs. NO HANDLING (NH)	EARLY HANDLING (EH) vs. NO HANDLING (NH)	EARLY HANDLING (EH) vs. NO HANDLING (NH)	EARLY HANDLING (EH) vs. NO HANDLING (NH)	EARLY HANDLING (EH) vs. NO HANDLING (NH)/ PRENATAL STRESS (PS) vs. NO PRENATAL STRESS (NPS)	EARLY HANDLING (EH) vs. NO HANDLING (NH)	EARLY HANDLING (EH) vs. NO HANDLING (NH)/ injected vs. non-injected	EARLY HANDLING (EH) vs. NO HANDLING (NH)
15 min handling from PND1 to PDN22	15 min handling from PND1 to PDN22	1 min handling from PND1 to PDN10	handling from PND1 to PDN20	15 min handling from PND1 to PDN21	15 min handling from PND2 to PDN5/ PND6/ PND 8/ PND9	15 min handling from PND4 to PDN20 together with <i>E.coli</i> injections	15 min handling from PND0 to PDN22
+ f	m + f	m + f	ш	E	m + f	E	ε
					Sprague- Dawley		

Plotsky and Meaney, 1993	O' Donnell et al., 1994	Caldji et al., 2000	Stevenson et al., 2009
• HYP: 1 CRF secretion in MS than EH and 1 CRF mRNA expression in MS than EH • Plasma: 1 CORT levels in MS than EH in response to stress	HIP: 1 GR binding capacity and 1 GR mRNA expression in adults EH	<ul> <li>Amygdala: Î BZ receptor binding and Î expression of γ2 subunit mRNA of the GABAA receptor complex in adult EH.</li> <li>Brain stem nuclei: Î GABAA receptor levels and Î expression of γ2 subunit mRNA of the GABAA receptor complex in adult EH</li> </ul>	
		<ul> <li>J fearfulness in the presence of novelty in adult EH vs. MS.</li> <li>OFT: 1 exploration of the center area in EH compared to MS rats</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>OFT: no differences between EH, MS and NH f rats</li> <li>MS reduced the expression of fear conditioning to the electric shock, EH elevated extinction learning</li> </ul>
EARLY HANDLING (EH) vs. MATERNAL SEPARATION (MS)	EARLY HANDLING (EH) vs. NO HANDLING (NH)	EARLY HANDLING (EH) vs. MATERNAL SEPARATION (MS)	EARLY HANDLING (EH) vs. MATERNAL SEPARATION (MS) vs. NO HANDLING (NH)
15 min handling from PND1 to PDN14	15 min handling from PND1 to PDN21	15 min handling from PND1 to PDN14	15 min handling from PND2 to PDN14
E	E	E	f
	Long-Evans		Lister-hooded

**Table 7:** Summary of existing literature of EH protocols in rodents. The sex, the EH protocol, the experimental groups as well as the behavioral and molecular results of each study are shown. Abbreviations: 1 : higher/increase/more, 1 : lower/decrease/less. m: males, f: females, PND: post-natal day (in all studies PND0 is defined as the day of birth), EZM: elevated zero maze, EPM: elevated plus maze, PMT: plus maze test, DaLi: dark-light box test, OFT: open field test, MWM: morris water maze, CFT: conditioned fear test, MNC: mild novelty challenge, LPS: lipopolysaccharide, HIP: hippocampus, HYP: hypothalamus, PFC: prefrontal cortex, VTA: ventral tegmental area, PVN; paraventricular hypothalamic nucleus, OB: olfactory bulbs, 5-HT: serotonin, CORT: corticosterone, TH-IR: tyrosine hydroxylase immunoreactive, MORs: mu-opioid receptors, BDNF: brain derived neurotrophic factor, NA: noradrenaline, CRF: corticotrophin releasing factor, IL-1b: interleukin 1 beta, GR: glucocorticoid receptor, BZ: benzodiazepine, GABAA: γ-aminobutyric acid receptor A, NR1/ NR2A/ NR2B: subunits of NMDA receptor.

# 5.2 EH affects protein expression levels of HAB EH male mice in a brain region-specific manner

Our protein study focused on the hippocampus and hypothalamus due to their implication in anxiety circuits (Fischer 2021; Ghasemi et al. 2022). Interestingly, EH changes protein expression of mitochondrial dynamics players in the hypothalamus of HAB EH compared to HAB NH male mice. PGC1a, DRP1 and OPA1 protein levels were significantly higher in HAB EH compared to HAB NH male mice (Fig. 29, 30, 31).

## <u>Hypothalamus</u>

PGC1a is the key transcriptional factor for inducing mitochondrial biogenesis that activates TFAM to initiate mtDNA synthesis (Gureev et al. 2019). DRP1 is a cytosolic protein of the core fission machinery and OPA1 is a protein involved in the fusion of the inner mitochondrial membrane (Tilokani et al. 2018). PGC1a mediates biogenesis but is also implicated in additional pathways such as ROS detoxification, energy metabolism and synaptic connectivity (Liang and Ward 2006; Cheng et al. 2012; Miller et al. 2019). Therefore, a change in the protein levels of PGC1a could be due to alterations in additional pathways other than biogenesis. The same notion could explain the changes in DRP1 protein levels. DRP1 apart from driving fission, it is also involved in circadian control of mitochondrial ATP production (Schmitt et al. 2018), normal rate of cytochrome c release and caspase activation during apoptosis (Ishihara et al. 2009). Also, its activity is regulated by a number of posttranslational modifications, including phosphorylation and sumoylation (Ma et al. 2020; Yapa et al. 2021). Lastly, OPA1 protein levels were higher in HAB EH male mice but our analysis in the protein levels of fusion mediators upstream of OPA1, shows no other alterations. To further proceed with the inner mitochondrial membrane fusion, OPA1 needs a proteolytic cleavage by OMA1 and YME1L metalloproteases, degrading long OPA1 isoforms into short OPA1 isoforms (Tilokani et al. 2018). The increase in OPA1 that we observed with our antibody, refers to the long OPA1 isoform and not the short one. This could imply that OPA1 is in the initial state and has not been cleaved yet, since we do not have any alterations in proteins or mRNAs that could suggest changes in the fusion process. It should be noted that previous proteomic analysis of cingulate cortex synaptosomes showed that HAB mice have higher OPA1 protein levels compared to LAB mice (Filiou et al. 2011).

Moreover, we discovered glycolysis-related changes in hypothalamus. PKLR protein levels were significantly higher, whereas ENO1 protein levels had a trend towards increased expression in the HAB EH male mice vs. HAB NH male mice (Fig. 21). In mammals, four different isoenzymes exist for pyruvate kinase, with PKLR being the liver variant and PKM1/M2 the main forms in muscle, heart and brain (Hall and Cottam 1978). According to the Human Protein Atlas (proteinatlas.org) the PKLR mouse gene, even though it has predominant expression in the liver, it is also expressed in brain areas such as hippocampal formation, thalamus, hypothalamus and it is mostly enhanced in basal ganglia. The antibody used here (sc-166228, Santa Cruz Biotechnology) detects both the PKLR R-type monomer (in 63 kDa) and the PKLR L-type monomer (in 59 kDa) and the significant expression difference that we discovered refers to the R-type monomer. In the study of Filiou et al, protein levels of PKM2 were found not significantly altered between HAB and LAB mice (Filiou et al. 2011). To our knowledge, there is no literature to date connecting PKLR protein with anxiety. Our protein analysis did not show other alterations in Krebs cycle enzymes (CS, ISOD and SDHA) or lactate production (LDHB), but we discovered significant correlations between these protein levels and DaLi behavioral parameters. More specifically, protein levels of CS positively correlate with entries to the light compartment, whereas ISOD correlates both with the entries and the latency to the light compartment (Fig. 28A). These correlations suggest

that there is a link between the expression of Krebs cycle enzymes and anxiety-related behavior. Moreover, we found a trend towards increased ARALAR expression in the hypothalamus of HAB EH male mice (Fig. 23) and a significant positive correlation between ARALAR protein expression and the latency to the light compartment (Fig. 28B). ARALAR is the aspartate-glutamate carrier 1, member of the SLC25 family. It transports aspartate and glutamate across the mitochondrial membrane and is involved in the malate-aspartate shuttle, which is a mechanism for transporting reducing equivalents across the mitochondrial membrane during energy metabolism (Bölsterli et al. 2020). Filliou et al. discovered that ARALAR protein levels are higher in synaptosomes of HAB male mice compared to LAB male mice, while Babenko et al. found that *aralar* mRNA levels are increased in hypothalamus of socially defeated adult C57BL/6 male mice (Filiou et al. 2011; Babenko et al. 2018). Yao et al. suggested that, among others, ARALAR could serve as a potential blood protein biomarker for humans with autism spectrum disorder (Yao et al. 2021), while disorders associated with dysfunctional ARALAR protein include epileptic encephalopathy and Asperger Syndrome (Babenko et al. 2018). Although the literature connecting ARALAR with anxiety is limited, how ARALAR may mediate anxiety-related behavior warrants further investigation.

Accumulating evidence indicates that mitochondrial dynamics is involved in controlling glucose homeostasis and energy metabolism in most hypothalamic neurons, although the precise mechanisms remain unclear (Zorzano and Claret 2015; Jin and Diano 2018). Our most prominent EH-induced molecular changes are in the hypothalamus and involve mitochondrial dynamics and glycolysis. It is now well established that mitochondria are implicated in anxiety-related behavior (Filiou and Sandi 2019; Gebara et al. 2021; Morella et al. 2022), but our understanding of how mitochondria influence the impact of positive early life interventions in adulthood is rather limited. Our data demonstrate that the mitochondrial dynamics machinery changes in adulthood as a result of an anxiolytic early life intervention. These changes in protein expression levels of key mitochondrial dynamics players, along with the significant correlation analyses of Krebs cycle proteins and anxietyrelated behavior, suggest a hypothalamus-specific EH effect with increased expression of biogenesis, fission, and fusion molecular machinery and also an association between energy metabolism protein levels and anxiety-related behavior in HAB EH male mice, something that it is not observed in HAB NH male mice. This could reflect changes in mitochondrial quality control to better meet the brain's energy demands. Hypothalamus may require higher demands due its implication in hunger, energy metabolism and hormone regulation (Gao and Horvath 2008). These vital life processes, from glucose sensing to energy production as well as hormone synthesis, release and further response to these signaling events are all energy-dependent. Therefore, mitochondrial adaptation in HAB EH hypothalamus may be attributed to its role in coordinating and regulating important physiological, energy demanding processes.

## <u>Hippocampus</u>

In the hippocampus, no statistically significant protein expression changes were observed for the tested proteins, besides a trend for the HAB EH mice to express more PRKN protein (Fig. 12B) and less PKLR protein (Fig. 9A) compared to HAB NH mice. Key mediators of mitochondrial dynamics as well as glycolysis, oxidative phosphorylation, signaling, transportation, metabolism and antioxidant capacity were not significantly altered in HAB EH mice compared to HAB NH mice. However, for HAB EH male mice several protein levels correlate with DaLi behavioral parameters. PRKN shows a negative trend with the entries to the light compartment (Fig. 13C), LDHB a positive trend with the entries to the light compartment (Fig. 13C), whereas SFXN3 protein levels have a negative trend with the latency to the light compartment (Fig. 13B).

Intriguingly, AMPA protein levels negatively correlate with the latency to the light compartment (Fig. 13A) and have a positive trend with the entries to the light compartment (Fig. 13C). Both correlations support the hypothesis that the less anxious mice are (with more entries to the light compartment and less latency to the light compartment), the higher AMPA protein levels they have in the hippocampus. As previously mentioned, AMPA is a glutamate receptor that mediates the majority of excitatory synaptic transmission in the brain and glutamate is abundant in the limbic system, part of which is the hippocampal formation (Ge and Wang 2021). The whole glutamatergic system plays a major role in the pathogenesis of anxiety, since abnormalities in glutamatergic signaling can lead to imbalance in excitatory- inhibitory neurotransmission (Mohler 2012, Nasir et al. 2020), with AMPA receptors expression patterns, synthesis and regulation activity being extensively studied in hippocampus (Bergink 2004; Royo et al. 2022). Preclinical studies suggest that

compounds active at AMPA and other ionotropic and metabotropic glutamate receptors exhibit anxiolytic properties (Bergink et al. 2004) but in the current literature it is still unclear whether these anxiolytic-like effects are induced by activation or inhibition of AMPA receptors, or both (Andreasen et al. 2015). In our results, AMPA protein levels do not significantly differ between HAB EH and HAB NH male mice, but there is a correlation between AMPA protein levels and anxiety-like behavior in the hippocampus. Hippocampus is a brain area involved in fear response, emotional regulation as well as anxiety responses (de Kloet et al. 2005; Zemla and Basu 2017; Humphreys et al. 2019; Baksh et al. 2021). Since the less anxious HAB EH male mice seem to have higher AMPA protein levels, this could possibly indicate changes in neuronal excitability, which could result in better neuronal communication and in a more efficient processing of anxiety response. Therefore, our correlation analysis shows that EH may upregulate the excitatory glutamatergic stimulus response in the hippocampus of HAB male mice and affect neurotransmission.

## 5.3 EH affects the mRNA levels of mediators for mitochondrial dynamics

After identifying protein expression changes in key players of mitochondrial dynamics, we went on to investigate gene expression changes in mitochondrial dynamics machinery by examining mRNAs of the same mitochondrial dynamics players identified at the protein level. qRT-PCRs results showed that mediators of the mitochondrial dynamics machinery also change at the mRNA levels upon EH in HAB male mice.

## **Hypothalamus**

In the hypothalamus, *tfam* mRNA was significantly lower in HAB EH compared to HAB NH male mice (Fig. 29). No significant differences were observed in TFAM protein levels between HAB EH and HAB NH male mice (Fig. 25). This result could be justified by the lack of sensitivity in the Western blot, to detect small but possibly present alterations. On the other hand, *tfam* mRNA may undergo post-transcriptional modifications and regulatory processes that may affect protein translation, justifying these differences in our results. Therefore, a more detailed investigation of transcriptional-translational regulatory events would help us better interpret our results.

In the previous mRNA study performed by diploma thesis student Elena Grammenou, *tfam* mRNA levels were also found decreased in the prefrontal cortex of HAB EH compared to HAB NH male mice, providing a hint that EH may affect mitochondrial biogenesis. TFAM is the final transcription factor that initiates mtDNA transcription and replication. Its activation depends on PGC1a, and the interactions of PGC1a with NRF-1 and NRF-2 (Popov 2020). Assessing the protein and mRNA levels of NRF-1 and NRF-2 would help us obtain deeper knowledge on how EH affects mitochondrial biogenesis.

Our correlation analysis revealed that mRNA levels of key mitochondrial dynamics players show trends towards correlations with DaLi behavioral parameters in the hypothalamus. For HAB EH male mice, *fis1* mRNA levels show a positive trend with the entries to the light compartment and a negative trend with the latency to the light compartment (Fig. 33A). *Prkn* and *drp1* have negative and positive trends, respectively, with the latency to the light compartment as well (Fig. 33B).

## **Hippocampus**

In the hippocampus mRNA levels of *slc25a46* were higher in HAB EH vs. HAB NH male mice (Fig. 15). No significant differences in SLC25A46 protein levels were detected between the two groups (Fig. 11B). SLC25A46 is a protein located in the outer mitochondrial membrane that has a wide interactome and is required in lipid homeostasis, maintenance of mitochondrial cristae architecture and mitochondrial fission/fusion machinery (Janer et al. 2016; Perivolidi et al. 2022). Although SLC25A46 is mostly investigated in non-neuronal cells, a study in the cerebellum of SLC25A46 transgenic mice, showed that SLC25A46 interacts with proteins involved in mitochondrial metabolism, ion mitochondrial transport, mitochondrial membrane organization and mitochondrial changes associated with apoptosis (Perivolidi et al. 2022). Furthermore, loss of function mutations in SLC25A46 may also lead to fragmented mitochondria, abnormalities in mitochondrial cristae and disruption of fission and fusion (Schuettpelz et al. 2023). So far, there are no studies that include either the SLC25A46 protein or the *slc25a46* mRNA in EH effects or in anxiolysis.

The correlation analysis in the hippocampus of HAB EH male mice, showed that *pink1* and *mfn2* mRNA levels significantly positively correlate with the entries to the light

compartment (Fig. 18), indicating that the lower anxiety-related behavior HAB mice have the lower mRNA levels of *pink1* and *mfn2* in the hippocampus. PINK1 is involved in mitochondrial mitophagy, whereas MFN2 is one of the two GTPases needed to initiate mitochondrial fusion. Even though we did not observe changes in mRNA levels of either *pink1* or *mfn2* in HAB EH vs. HAB NH male mice, our correlation data could suggest that the less anxious HAB mice have possibly less damaged or dysfunctional mitochondria.

#### Prefrontal cortex

In the prefrontal cortex, no significant differences between the mRNA levels that we tested were detected. At the same time, there were no significant correlations in the mRNA levels and Dali parameters with the exception of a negative trend between *mid51* mRNA levels with the latency to the light compartment for the HAB EH male mice (Fig. 6).

# 5.4 TAC and carbonylation levels correlate with DaLi behavioral parameters in HAB EH male mice

TAC analysis, which is used to evaluate the organism's collective antioxidant capacity, showed that TAC values were not different in the HAB EH vs. HAB NH male mice in both hypothalamus (Fig. 34) and hippocampus (Fig. 19). In the hippocampus of HAB EH male mice, TAC values show a significant positive correlation with the entries to the light compartment and a negative trend for the latency to the light compartment (Fig 19B). This denotes that the less anxious mice are (with more entries and less latency to the light compartment), the greater antioxidant capacity they have. Existing literature shows that there is a causal link between oxidative status and anxiety-related behavior (Hovatta et al. 2005; Bouayed et al. 2009; Fedoce et al. 2018) and our data are in accordance with this hypothesis. However, it is important to note that TAC may not recapitulate changes in individual oxidative stress pathways and in the study of anxiety. In some cases, anxiety levels have been associated with higher antioxidant activity, as a response to an uncontrolled ROS production, for example in human and mice phagocytes in vivo (Splettstoesser and Schuff-Werner 2002; Bouayed et al. 2009). Other studies have shown that anxiety is characterized by lower

antioxidant activity due to the increased levels of oxidative stress, as indicated in Long Evans rats with social stress (Patki et al. 2013). Hence, the relationship between anxiety and antioxidant capacity is complex and context-dependent and we should consider other factors when correlating them such as the type of anxiety (innate, social, other comorbidities), the time interval (e.g. the time period between anxiety and the antioxidant capacity measurement) as well as the individual variations that have to do with genetic and epigenetic factors and the environment or the individual's lifestyle (Ratman et al. 2006; Fedoce et al. 2018).

On the other hand, the results of the correlation analysis of the carbonylation assay in the prefrontal cortex encourages a contrary hypothesis. Even though there are no significant differences in the amount of carbonylated proteins between HAB EH and HAB NH male mice, for HAB EH mice there is a statistically significant negative correlation for the latency to the light compartment with the number of carbonylated proteins, whereas there is a positive trend between the entries to the light compartment and the number of carbonylated proteins. These results suggest that the less anxious HAB EH mice, have higher amounts of carbonylated proteins in the prefrontal cortex, which is an unexpected result given that the amount of carbonylated proteins is a marker of oxidative damage (Alomari et al. 2018). In the literature, it is known that the prefrontal cortex is prone to oxidative stress, the levels of which are found to correlate with anxiety-like behavior (de Munter et al. 2021). This result could imply that, despite the anxiolytic effect of EH in mice, this intervention may not have the ability to induce changes in the levels of carbonylated proteins and that the prefrontal cortex may remain sensitive to this parameter of oxidative stress. It is also important to note that protein carbonylation is not always indicative of pathological conditions and up to a certain level can also occur as a part of normal physiological processes and most importantly for apoptosis signaling (Magi et al. 2004).

## 5.5 Summary of the results

The goal of this study was the molecular characterization of the possible implication of brain mitochondria and mitochondrial dynamics in EH effects in the high anxiety background of the HAB male mice. Through our work we discovered that EH influences HAB male mice in a brain-region specific manner. In hypothalamus we discovered significant changes in mitochondrial dynamics both in protein and mRNA levels. HAB EH mice have significantly higher protein levels of DRP1 (fission), PGC1a (biogenesis) and OPA1 (fusion) compared to HAB NH male mice. Also HB EH have significantly lower *tfam* (biogenesis) mRNA levels compared to HAB NH male mice. Furthermore, we reported that there are changes concerning the protein expression of the glycolytic enzymes, with HAB EH having significantly higher PKLR protein levels as well as a trend towards higher ENO1 protein levels compared to HAB NH male mice. Our correlation analysis for HAB EH mice showed that protein levels of the Krebs cycle enzymes CS and ISOD significantly correlate with the Dali's behavioral parameters, indicating that the more anxious mice are, the higher CS and lower ISOD protein levels they have in the hypothalamus. Lastly for hypothalamus there is a positive significant correlation between ARALAR protein levels and latency to the light compartment indicating that the more anxious mice are, the higher ARALAR protein levels they have in the hypothalamus. It should be noted that for HAB EH there is also a trend towards higher ARALAR protein expression levels compared to HAB NH male mice.

In hippocampus our protein analysis did not reveal any significant alterations in the protein levels between HAB EH and HAB NH male mice. Our most significant protein result is the significant negative correlation between AMPA protein levels and the latency to the light compartment which shows that the more anxious mice are, the less AMPA protein they have in hippocampus. With our mRNA study in hippocampus we discovered that HAB EH have significantly higher *slc25a46* mRNA levels compared to HAB NH mice and the correlation analysis for HAB EH mice showed that *pink1* and *mfn2* mRNA levels positively correlate with the entries to the light compartment indicating that the more anxious mice are, the less *pink1* and *mfn2* mRNA levels they have in hippocampus. Concerning the oxidative status, while there are no significant positive correlation between TAC values and entries to the light compartment as a negative trend between TAC values and latency to the light compartment for the HAB EH mice. These behavioral correlations both indicate that the more anxious mice are, the less antioxidant capacity they have in hippocampus.

Finally, for prefrontal cortex, our mRNA analyses did not reveal any significant alterations, together with no significant correlations between mRNA levels and DaLi's

behavioral parameters. Our most significant result in this brain area is the correlations for the HAB EH mice between the amount of carbonylated proteins and DaLi's behavioral parameters which suggest that the more anxious mice are, the less carbonylated proteins they have in the prefrontal cortex. A summary of all our significant molecular changes concerning HAB EH male mice is presented in Table 8.

Brain region	Molecular results
PFC	<u>HAB EH male mice have</u> : No significant differences of mitochondrial dynamics related genes compared to HAB NH male mice <u>Negative correlation o</u> f <b>carbonylated proteins</b> with latency to the light compartment
HIP	HAB EH male mice have: slc25a46 (fission) mRNA levels Positive correlation of <i>pink1</i> and <i>mfn2</i> mRNA levels with the number of entries to the light compartment Negative correlation of AMPA protein levels with latency to the light compartment Positive correlation of TAC values with the entries to the light compartment
HYP	HAB EH male mice have: <b>DRP1</b> (fission), <b>PGC1a</b> (biogenesis), <b>OPA1</b> (fusion), <b>PKLR</b> (glycolysis) protein levels <i>tfam</i> (biogenesis) mRNA levels <u>Negative correlation</u> of <b>CS</b> protein levels with the entries to the light compartment <u>Positive correlation</u> of <b>ISOD</b> protein levels with the number of entries and <u>negative correlation</u> with the latency to the light compartment <u>Positive correlation</u> of <b>ARALAR</b> protein levels with latency to the light compartment

**Table 8:** Summary of the significant molecular results observed in each brain region for HAB EH compared to HAB NH male mice. Green arrow: higher/ increased, red arrow: lower/ decreased, PFC: prefrontal cortex, HIP: hippocampus, HYP: hypothalamus.

# 5.6 Limitations of the study and future perspectives

Similar to every research work, ours as well has its challenges and limitations. One main issue is the lack of high sensitivity for western blot analyses to detect low fold change protein alterations. However, there is not always a one-to-one correlation between gene copy number, expression levels and protein activity (Tan et al. 2009). Therefore, changes in one stage of expression might not always follow up to the next stage. For this purpose, we

could further check for transcriptional-translational control for post-transcriptional regulations, translational regulation, protein localization or degradation. This could possibly be solved by performing RNA sequencing, immunoprecipitation or by using more sensitive protein techniques such as mass spectrometry-based proteomics.

Another issue regarding the techniques is the measurement of oxidative stress. There are many methods to assess the levels of oxidative stress of a biological sample, including measuring expression levels of antioxidant enzymes or using ROS sensors like dichlorodihydro-fluorescein diacetate (DCFH-DA) (Yu et al. 2021). In our case, oxidative stress parameters such as TAC and carbonylation assay, assess oxidative stress in different ways. In TAC, substances such as glutathione, ascorbic acid, protein thiols and smaller metabolites react with DCIP chromogen, reducing its ABS (Ciuti and Liguri 2017). Using DCIP, we are able to measure the overall antioxidant capacity of a sample, but without a detailed information about specific antioxidants or their mechanisms of action. On the other hand, carbonylation measures the levels of carbonylated proteins, which is an indirect marker of a sample's oxidative status (Alomari et al. 2018). Carbonylation may indicate oxidative damage to proteins but again without identifying the specific oxidized proteins. It's important to note though that both methods can help us assess the levels of a sample's oxidative stress since no single assay can comprehensively capture the complexity of antioxidant systems in biological samples. For future experiments, it would be interesting to perform carbonylation in other brain regions, such as hypothalamus and hippocampus and compare these results with those of the prefrontal cortex. In our case this was not feasible due to insufficient brain tissue availability volume.

For future work, it would be interesting to visualize molecular changes using microscopy techniques. Until now, we have not performed imaging experiments to detect changes in mitochondrial morphology or distribution among the cells. It would be fascinating to see how changes in the molecular levels, actually influence mitochondria form inside the cells. Also, in silico analysis of our molecular data would be helpful to identify which pathways are possibly and actually affected from the protein or mRNA changes that we have. In this context, both immunofluorescence microscopy and in silico analysis, would help us to depict changes in a pathway or morphology and to further conclude to a phenotype. Lastly, it is important to continue this molecular characterization of EH to other

85

brain areas that relate to anxiety response such as cerebellum (Chin and Augustine 2023) or amygdala, which nuclei heterogeneity may provide very interesting insights (Ressler 2010). As presented in Table 7, most of EH studies are conducted in males and the female studies mostly refer to rat strains. Flanigan and Cook performed EH in C57BL/6J and DBA/2J but their results were focused on behavioral and not molecular alterations. Likewise in males, there is no literature studying the molecular effects of EH in females, much less the investigation of brain mitochondria. Consequently, continuing with working on female HAB mice will help us fill the pieces to the brain-mitochondria interaction puzzle in a sex-specific way.

The aim of this thesis was to unravel the molecular effects of EH in brain regions involved in anxiety circuits, by highlighting the role of mitochondria and more importantly mitochondrial dynamics. Studying these molecular effects in a high anxiety background gives us the opportunity to better understand the mechanisms of anxiety-related behavior. HAB mice are a model of innate anxiety that differ from NAB or LAB mice both molecularly and behaviorally (see Introduction page 14). Evaluating how early life experiences potentially modify anxiety-related behaviors later in adult life, may provide insights into understanding the development and regulation of anxiety-related disorders in humans. It may allow us to pinpoint the specific cellular and molecular events that are influenced by early life interventions in highly anxious individuals and identify alterations in gene expression, protein activity or changes in metabolic and neurotransmitting pathways, as well as in other molecular processes that are involved in anxiety regulation. This can lead us to discover potential therapeutic strategies that can treat or even prevent the progression of anxiety or anxiety disorders. Performing similar analyses to different rodent strains and sexes, can further help us clarify the affected molecular mechanisms and also can help us turn to a more personalized approach for either therapeutic or preventive purposes.

## 6. <u>References</u>

- Akatsu, Shigemi, Chihiro Ishikawa, Kaori Takemura, Akiko Ohtani, and Takashi Shiga. 2015. "Effects of Prenatal Stress and Neonatal Handling on Anxiety, Spatial Learning and Serotonergic System of Male Offspring Mice." *Neuroscience Research* 101 (December): 15–23. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neures.2015.07.002.
- Alomari, Esra'a, Stefano Bruno, Luca Ronda, Gianluca Paredi, Stefano Bettati, and Andrea Mozzarelli. 2018. "Protein Carbonylation Detection Methods: A Comparison." *Data in Brief* 19 (August): 2215–20. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dib.2018.06.088.
- Andreasen, Jesper T, Ciaran M Fitzpatrick, Maria Larsen, Lars Skovgaard, Simon D Nielsen, Rasmus P
   Clausen, Karin Troelsen, and Darryl S Pickering. 2015. "Differential Role of AMPA
   Receptors in Mouse Tests of Antidepressant and Anxiolytic Action." *Brain Research* 1601 (March): 117–26. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainres.2015.01.001.
- Apostolova, Nadezda, and Victor M. Victor. 2015. "Molecular Strategies for Targeting Antioxidants to Mitochondria: Therapeutic Implications." *Antioxidants & Redox Signaling* 22 (8): 686–729. https://doi.org/10.1089/ars.2014.5952.
- Babenko, Vladimir N., Dmitry A. Smagin, Anna G. Galyamina, Irina L. Kovalenko, and Natalia N.
   Kudryavtseva. 2018. "Altered Slc25 Family Gene Expression as Markers of Mitochondrial
   Dysfunction in Brain Regions under Experimental Mixed Anxiety/Depression-like
   Disorder." *BMC Neuroscience* 19 (1): 79. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12868-018-0480-6.
- Baksh, Asaad R., Craig W. Ritchie, Graciela Muniz Terrera, Joanna Norton, Vanessa Raymont, and Karen Ritchie. 2021. "The Association between Anxiety Disorders and Hippocampal Volume in Older Adults." *Psychology and Aging* 36 (2): 288–97. https://doi.org/10.1037/pag0000597.
- Baldini, Sara, Laura Restani, Laura Baroncelli, Maila Coltelli, Roberta Franco, Maria Christina Cenni,
   Lamberto Maffei, and Nicoletta Berardi. 2013. "Enriched Early Life Experiences Reduce
   Adult Anxiety-Like Behavior in Rats: A Role for Insulin-Like Growth Factor 1." Journal of
   Neuroscience 33 (28): 11715–23. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3541-12.2013.

- Bales, Karen L. 2017. "Parenting in Animals." *Current Opinion in Psychology* 15 (June): 93–98. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.copsyc.2017.02.026.
- Ben-Shachar, Dorit, and Hila M. Ene. 2018. "Mitochondrial Targeted Therapies: Where Do We Stand in Mental Disorders?" *Biological Psychiatry* 83 (9): 770–79. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2017.08.007.
- Bergink, Veerle 2004. "Glutamate and Anxiety." *European Neuropsychopharmacology* 14 (3): 175–83. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0924-977X(03)00100-7.
- Bhatti, Gurjit Kaur, Anshika Gupta, Paras Pahwa, Naina Khullar, Satwinder Singh, Umashanker Navik,
   Shashank Kumar, et al. 2022. "Targeting Mitochondrial Bioenergetics as a Promising
   Therapeutic Strategy in Metabolic and Neurodegenerative Diseases." *Biomedical Journal*,
   2022 Oct 45 (5): 733-748. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bj.2022.05.002.
- Bilbo, Staci D., Nicholas J. Newsum, David B. Sprunger, Linda R. Watkins, Jerry W. Rudy, and Steven F. Maier. 2007. "Differential Effects of Neonatal Handling on Early Life Infection-Induced Alterations in Cognition in Adulthood." *Brain, Behavior, and Immunity* 21 (3): 332–42. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbi.2006.10.005.
- Bissonette, Gregory B., and Elizabeth M. Powell. 2012. "Reversal Learning and Attentional Set-Shifting in Mice." *Neuropharmacology* 2012 Mar 62 (3):1168–74 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropharm.2011.03.011.
- Bölsterli, Bigna K., Eugen Boltshauser, Luigi Palmieri, Johannes Spenger, Michaela Brunner-Krainz, Felix Distelmaier, Peter Freisinger, et al. 2022. "Ketogenic Diet Treatment of Defects in the Mitochondrial Malate Aspartate Shuttle and Pyruvate Carrier." *Nutrients* 14 (17): 3605. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu14173605.
- Bondar, Natalya P., Arina A. Lepeshko, and Vasiliy V. Reshetnikov. 2018. "Effects of Early-Life Stress on Social and Anxiety-Like Behaviors in Adult Mice: Sex-Specific Effects." *Behavioural Neurology* 2018: 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1155/2018/1538931.

- Bouayed, Jaouad, Hassan Rammal, and Rachid Soulimani. 2009. "Oxidative Stress and Anxiety: Relationship and Cellular Pathways." *Oxidative Medicine and Cellular Longevity* 2 (2): 63– 67. https://doi.org/10.4161/oxim.2.2.7944.
- Bourin, Michel, and Martine Hascoët. 2003. "The Mouse Light/Dark Box Test." *European Journal of Pharmacology* 463 (1–3): 55–65. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0014-2999(03)01274-3.

Bowlby, John. 1969. Attachment and Loss. Second. Vol. 1. New York: Basic Books.

- Caldji, Christian 2000. "The Effects of Early Rearing Environment on the Development of GABAA and Central Benzodiazepine Receptor Levels and Novelty-Induced Fearfulness in the Rat." *Neuropsychopharmacology* 22 (3): 219–29. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0893-133X(99)00110-4.
- Chaban, Yuriy, Egbert J. Boekema, and Natalya V. Dudkina. 2014. "Structures of Mitochondrial Oxidative Phosphorylation Supercomplexes and Mechanisms for Their Stabilisation." *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Bioenergetics* 1837 (4): 418–26. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbabio.2013.10.004.
- Chen, Hsiuchen, Scott A. Detmer, Andrew J. Ewald, Erik E. Griffin, Scott E. Fraser, and David C. Chan.
   2003. "Mitofusins Mfn1 and Mfn2 Coordinately Regulate Mitochondrial Fusion and Are
   Essential for Embryonic Development." *Journal of Cell Biology* 160 (2): 189–200.
   https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.200211046.
- Cheng, Aiwu, Ruiqian Wan, Jenq-Lin Yang, Naomi Kamimura, Tae Gen Son, Xin Ouyang, Yongquan Luo, Eitan Okun, and Mark P. Mattson. 2012. "Involvement of PGC-1α in the Formation and Maintenance of Neuronal Dendritic Spines." *Nature Communications* 3 (1): 1250. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms2238.
- Chin, Pei Wern, and George J. Augustine. 2023. "The Cerebellum and Anxiety." *Frontiers in Cellular Neuroscience* 17 Feb 22; 17:1130505. https://doi.org/10.3389/fncel.2023.1130505.
- Chinnery, Patrick F. 2003. "Mitochondria." *Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery & Psychiatry* 74 (9): 1188–99. https://doi.org/10.1136/jnnp.74.9.1188.

- Ciuti, Riccardo, and Gianfranco Liguri. 2017. "A Novel Assay for Measuring Total Antioxidant Capacity in Whole Blood and Other Biological Samples." *Journal of Biomedical Science and Engineering* 10 (02): 60–76. https://doi.org/10.4236/jbise.2017.102007.
- Colombo, Graziano, Marco Clerici, Maria Elisa Garavaglia, Daniela Giustarini, Ranieri Rossi, Aldo Milzani, and Isabella Dalle-Donne. 2016. "A Step-by-Step Protocol for Assaying Protein Carbonylation in Biological Samples." *Journal of Chromatography B* 1019 (April): 178–90. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jchromb.2015.11.052.
- Cull-Candy, Stuart, Leah Kelly, and Mark Farrant. 2006. "Regulation of Ca2+-Permeable AMPA Receptors: Synaptic Plasticity and Beyond." *Current Opinion in Neurobiology* 16 (3): 288– 97. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.conb.2006.05.012.
- Dai, Wenting, Guan Wang, Jason Chwa, Myung Eun Oh, Tharindumala Abeywardana, Yanzhong Yang, Qiong A. Wang, and Lei Jiang. 2020. "Mitochondrial Division Inhibitor (Mdivi-1)
   Decreases Oxidative Metabolism in Cancer." *British Journal of Cancer* 122 (9): 1288–97. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41416-020-0778-x.
- Daviu, Nuria, Michael R. Bruchas, Bita Moghaddam, Carmen Sandi, and Anna Beyeler. 2019. "Neurobiological Links between Stress and Anxiety." *Neurobiology of Stress* 11 (Aug) 13; 11:100191: 100191. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ynstr.2019.100191.
- Denenberg, Victor H., and George G. Karas. 1960. "Interactive Effects of Age and Duration of Infantile Experience on Adult Learning." *Psychological Reports* 7 (2): 313–22. https://doi.org/10.2466/pr0.1960.7.2.313.
- Denenberg, Victor H., and George G. Karas. 1961. "Interactive Effects of Infantile and Adult Experiences upon Weight Gain and Mortality in the Rat." *Journal of Comparative and Physiological Psychology* 54 (6): 685–89. https://doi.org/10.1037/h0040484.
- Denenberg, Victor H., and John R. C. Morton. 1962. "Effects of Environmental Complexity and Social Groupings upon Modification of Emotional Behavior." *Journal of Comparative and Physiological Psychology* 55 (2): 242–46. https://doi.org/10.1037/h0041116.

- Ding, Fadian, Feng Gao, Sheng Zhang, Xiaoting Lv, Youting Chen, and Qicai Liu. 2021. "A Review of the Mechanism of DDIT4 Serve as a Mitochondrial Related Protein in Tumor Regulation." *Science Progress* 104 (1): 003685042199727. https://doi.org/10.1177/0036850421997273.
- Ditzen, Claudia, Archana M. Jastorff, Melanie S. Kessler, Mirjam Bunck, Larysa Teplytska, Angelika Erhardt, Simone A. Krömer, et al. 2006. "Protein Biomarkers in a Mouse Model of Extremes in Trait Anxiety." *Molecular & Cellular Proteomics* 5 (10): 1914–20. https://doi.org/10.1074/mcp.M600088-MCP200.
- Dixon, Matthew L., Ravi Thiruchselvam, Rebecca Todd, and Kalina Christoff. 2017. "Emotion and the Prefrontal Cortex: An Integrative Review." *Psychological Bulletin* 143 (10): 1033–81. https://doi.org/10.1037/bul0000096.
- Du, Jing, Yun Wang, Richard Hunter, Yanling Wei, Rayah Blumenthal, Cynthia Falke, Rushaniya Khairova, et al. 2009. "Dynamic Regulation of Mitochondrial Function by Glucocorticoids." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 106 (9): 3543–48. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0812671106.
- Evans, Gary W. 2006. "Child Development and the Physical Environment." *Annual Review of Psychology* 57 (1): 423–51. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.psych.57.102904.190057.
- Fagan, Julie M., Bogdan G. Sleczka, and Istvan Sohar. 1999. "Quantitation of Oxidative Damage to Tissue Proteins." *The International Journal of Biochemistry & Cell Biology* 31 (7): 751–57. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1357-2725(99)00034-5.
- Fedoce, Alessandra das Graças, Frederico Ferreira, Robert G. Bota, Vicent Bonet-Costa, Patrick Y. Sun, and Kelvin J. A. Davies. 2018. "The Role of Oxidative Stress in Anxiety Disorder: Cause or Consequence?" *Free Radical Research* 52 (7): 737–50. https://doi.org/10.1080/10715762.2018.1475733.
- Filiou, Michaela D., John M. Asara, Markus Nussbaumer, Larysa Teplytska, Rainer Landgraf, and Christoph W. Turck. 2014. "Behavioral Extremes of Trait Anxiety in Mice Are Characterized by Distinct Metabolic Profiles." *Journal of Psychiatric Research* 58 (November): 115–22. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychires.2014.07.019.

Filiou, Michaela D., and Carmen Sandi. 2019. "Anxiety and Brain Mitochondria: A Bidirectional Crosstalk." *Trends in Neurosciences*. Elsevier Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tins.2019.07.002.

- Filiou, Michaela D., Yaoyang Zhang, Larysa Teplytska, Stefan Reckow, Philipp Gormanns, Giuseppina Maccarrone, Elisabeth Frank, et al. 2011. "Proteomics and Metabolomics Analysis of a Trait Anxiety Mouse Model Reveals Divergent Mitochondrial Pathways." *Biological Psychiatry* 70 (11): 1074–82. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2011.06.009.
- Fischer, Susanne. 2021. "The Hypothalamus in Anxiety Disorders." Handb Clin Neurol. 2021;180: 149– 60. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-820107-7.00009-4.
- Flanigan, Timothy J., and Melloni N. Cook. 2011. "Effects of an Early Handling-Like Procedure and Individual Housing on Anxiety-Like Behavior in Adult C57BL/6J and DBA/2J Mice." PLoS ONE 6 (4): e19058. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0019058.

Formosa, Luke E., and Michael T. Ryan. 2018. "Mitochondrial OXPHOS Complex Assembly Lines." Nature Cell Biology 20 (5): 511–13. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41556-018-0098-z.

Fuster, Joaquin. 2015. The Prefrontal Cortex. 5th Edition. Academic Press Elsevier. London, UK

- Gao, Qian, and Tamas L Horvath. 2008. "Neuronal Control of Energy Homeostasis." *FEBS Letters* 582 (1): 132–41. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.febslet.2007.11.063.
- Ge, Yuan, and Yu Tian Wang. 2021. "GluA1-Homomeric AMPA Receptor in Synaptic Plasticity and Neurological Diseases." *Neuropharmacology* 197 (October): 108708. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropharm.2021.108708.
- Gebara, Elias, Olivia Zanoletti, Sriparna Ghosal, Jocelyn Grosse, Bernard L. Schneider, Graham Knott,
   Simone Astori, and Carmen Sandi. 2021. "Mitofusin-2 in the Nucleus Accumbens
   Regulates Anxiety and Depression-like Behaviors Through Mitochondrial and Neuronal
   Actions." *Biological Psychiatry* 89 (11): 1033–44.
   https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2020.12.003.
- Ghasemi, Maedeh, Mojdeh Navidhamidi, Fatemeh Rezaei, Armin Azizikia, and Nasrin Mehranfard. 2022. "Anxiety and Hippocampal Neuronal Activity: Relationship and Potential

Mechanisms." *Cognitive, Affective, & Behavioral Neuroscience* 22 (3): 431–49. https://doi.org/10.3758/s13415-021-00973-y.

- González-Pardo, Héctor, Jorge L. Arias, Eneritz Gómez-Lázaro, Isabel López Taboada, and Nélida M.
   Conejo. 2020. "Sex-Specific Effects of Early Life Stress on Brain Mitochondrial Function, Monoamine Levels and Neuroinflammation." *Brain Sciences* 10 (7): 1–17. https://doi.org/10.3390/brainsci10070447.
- Gordon, Joshua A., and Rene Hen. 2004. "GENETIC APPROACHES TO THE STUDY OF ANXIETY." *Annual Review of Neuroscience* 27 (1): 193–222. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.neuro.27.070203.144212.
- Gureev, Artem P., Ekaterina A. Shaforostova, and Vasily N. Popov. 2019. "Regulation of Mitochondrial Biogenesis as a Way for Active Longevity: Interaction Between the Nrf2 and PGC-1α Signaling Pathways." *Frontiers in Genetics* May 10:435. https://doi.org/10.3389/fgene.2019.00435.
- Hall, Elizabeth R., and G. Larry Cottam. 1978. "Isozymes of Pyruvate Kinase in Vertebrates: Their Physical, Chemical, Kinetic and Immunological Properties." *International Journal of Biochemistry* 9 (11): 785–94. https://doi.org/10.1016/0020-711X(78)90027-7.
- Halling, Jens Frey, and Henriette Pilegaard. 2020. "PGC-1α-Mediated Regulation of Mitochondrial Function and Physiological Implications." *Applied Physiology, Nutrition, and Metabolism* 45 (9): 927–36. https://doi.org/10.1139/apnm-2020-0005.
- Hoffmann, Anke, and Dietmar Spengler. 2018. "The Mitochondrion as Potential Interface in Early-Life Stress Brain Programming." *Frontiers in Behavioral Neuroscience* 2018 Dec 6;12:306. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnbeh.2018.00306.
- Hohls, Johanna Katharina, Hans-Helmut König, Eleanor Quirke, and André Hajek. 2021. "Anxiety, Depression and Quality of Life-A Systematic Review of Evidence from Longitudinal Observational Studies." *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health* 18 (22). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph182212022.

Hosseinian, Sina, Paria Ali Pour, and Arash Kheradvar. 2022. "Prospects of Mitochondrial Transplantation in Clinical Medicine: Aspirations and Challenges." *Mitochondrion* 65 (July): 33–44. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mito.2022.04.006.

- Hovatta, Iiris, Richard S. Tennant, Robert Helton, Robert A. Marr, Oded Singer, Jeffrey M. Redwine, Julie A. Ellison, et al. 2005. "Glyoxalase 1 and Glutathione Reductase 1 Regulate Anxiety in Mice." *Nature* 438 (7068): 662–66. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature04250.
- Howerton, Christopher L, Christopher P. Morgan, David B. Fischer, and Tracy L. Bale. 2013. "O-GlcNAc Transferase (OGT) as a Placental Biomarker of Maternal Stress and
   Reprogramming of CNS Gene Transcription in Development." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 110 (13): 5169–74. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1300065110.
- Humphreys, Kathryn L., Lucy S. King, Matthew D. Sacchet, M. Catalina Camacho, Natalie L. Colich, Sarah J. Ordaz, Tiffany C. Ho, and Ian H. Gotlib. 2019. "Evidence for a Sensitive Period in the Effects of Early Life Stress on Hippocampal Volume." *Developmental Science* 22 2019 May; 22(3): e12775. https://doi.org/10.1111/desc.12775.
- Ishihara, Naotada, Masatoshi Nomura, Akihiro Jofuku, Hiroki Kato, Satoshi O. Suzuki, Keiji Masuda, Hidenori Otera, et al. 2009. "Mitochondrial Fission Factor Drp1 Is Essential for Embryonic Development and Synapse Formation in Mice." *Nature Cell Biology* 11 (8): 958–66. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncb1907.
- Janer, Alexandre, Julien Prudent, Vincent Paupe, Somayyeh Fahiminiya, Jacek Majewski, Nicolas Sgarioto, Christine Des Rosiers, et al. 2016. " <scp>SLC</Scp> 25A46 Is Required for Mitochondrial Lipid Homeostasis and Cristae Maintenance and Is Responsible for Leigh Syndrome." EMBO Molecular Medicine 8 (9): 1019–38. https://doi.org/10.15252/emmm.201506159.
- Jin, Seok Min, Michael Lazarou, Chunxin Wang, Lesley A. Kane, Derek P. Narendra, and Richard J. Youle. 2010. "Mitochondrial Membrane Potential Regulates PINK1 Import and Proteolytic Destabilization by PARL." *Journal of Cell Biology* 191 (5): 933–42. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.201008084.

- Jin, Sungho, and Sabrina Diano. 2018a. "Mitochondrial Dynamics and Hypothalamic Regulation of Metabolism." *Endocrinology* 159 (10): 3596–3604. https://doi.org/10.1210/en.2018-00667.
- Jin, Sungho, and Sabrina Diano. 2018b. "Mitochondrial Dynamics and Hypothalamic Regulation of Metabolism." *Endocrinology* 159 (10): 3596–3604. https://doi.org/10.1210/en.2018-00667.
- Kageyama, Kazunori, Yasumasa Iwasaki, and Makoto Daimon. 2021. "Hypothalamic Regulation of Corticotropin-Releasing Factor under Stress and Stress Resilience." *International Journal of Molecular Sciences* 22 (22): 12242. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms222212242.
- Kanarik, Margus, Aet Alttoa, Denis Matrov, Kadri Kõiv, Trevor Sharp, Jaak Panksepp, and Jaanus Harro. 2011. "Brain Responses to Chronic Social Defeat Stress: Effects on Regional Oxidative Metabolism as a Function of a Hedonic Trait, and Gene Expression in Susceptible and Resilient Rats." *European Neuropsychopharmacology* 21 (1): 92–107. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.euroneuro.2010.06.015.
- Kenwood, Margaux M., Ned H. Kalin, and Helen Barbas. 2022. "The Prefrontal Cortex, Pathological Anxiety, and Anxiety Disorders." *Neuropsychopharmacology* 47 (1): 260–75. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41386-021-01109-z.
- Kleele, Tatjana, Timo Rey, Julius Winter, Sofia Zaganelli, Dora Mahecic, Hélène Perreten Lambert, Francesco Paolo Ruberto, et al. 2021. "Distinct Fission Signatures Predict Mitochondrial Degradation or Biogenesis." *Nature* 593 (7859): 435–39. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-021-03510-6.
- Kloet, E. Ron de, Marian Joëls, and Florian Holsboer. 2005. "Stress and the Brain: From Adaptation to Disease." *Nature Reviews Neuroscience* 6 (6): 463–75. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn1683.
- Korla, Kalyani, and Chanchal K Mitra. 2014. "Modelling the Krebs cycle and oxidative phosphorylation." *Journal of biomolecular structure & dynamics* vol. 32 (2): 242-56. doi:10.1080/07391102.2012.762723
- Kromer, Simone A. 2005. "Identification of Glyoxalase-I as a Protein Marker in a Mouse Model of Extremes in Trait Anxiety." *Journal of Neuroscience* 25 (17): 4375–84. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0115-05.2005.

- Lak, Armin, Michael Okun, Morgane M. Moss, Harsha Gurnani, Karolina Farrell, Miles J. Wells, Charu Bai Reddy, Adam Kepecs, Kenneth D. Harris, and Matteo Carandini. 2020. "Dopaminergic and Prefrontal Basis of Learning from Sensory Confidence and Reward Value." *Neuron* 105 (4). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2019.11.018.
- Landers, Margo S., and Regina M. Sullivan. 2012. "The Development and Neurobiology of Infant Attachment and Fear." *Developmental Neuroscience* 34 (2–3): 101–14. https://doi.org/10.1159/000336732.
- Landgraf, Rainer, Melanie S. Keßler, Mirjam Bunck, Chris Murgatroyd, Dietmar Spengler, Marina Zimbelmann, Markus Nußbaumer, et al. 2007. "Candidate Genes of Anxiety-Related Behavior in HAB/LAB Rats and Mice: Focus on Vasopressin and Glyoxalase-I." *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews* 31 (1): 89–102. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2006.07.003.
- Lapp, Hannah E, Andrew A Bartlett, and Richard G Hunter. 2019. "Stress and Glucocorticoid Receptor Regulation of Mitochondrial Gene Expression." *Journal of Molecular Endocrinology* 62 (2): R121–28. https://doi.org/10.1530/JME-18-0152.
- Ledahawsky, Leire M., Maria Eirini Terzenidou, Ruairidh Edwards, Rachel A. Kline, Laura C. Graham, Samantha L. Eaton, Dinja van der Hoorn, et al. 2022. "The Mitochondrial Protein Sideroflexin 3 (SFXN3) Influences Neurodegeneration Pathways *in Vivo*." *The FEBS Journal* 289 (13): 3894–3914. https://doi.org/10.1111/febs.16377.
- Levine, Seymour. 1957. "Infantile Experience and Resistance to Physiological Stress." *Science* 126 (3270): 405–405. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.126.3270.405.
- Liang, Huiyun, and Walter F. Ward. 2006. "PGC-1α: A Key Regulator of Energy Metabolism." *Advances in Physiology Education* 30 (4): 145–51. https://doi.org/10.1152/advan.00052.2006.
- Liesa, Marc, Manuel Palacín, and Antonio Zorzano. 2009. "Mitochondrial Dynamics in Mammalian Health and Disease." *Physiological Reviews* 89 (3): 799–845. https://doi.org/10.1152/physrev.00030.2008.

- Liu, Xiaoqin, Lijuan Song, Jiezhong Yu, Fang Huang, Yanhua Li, and Cungen Ma. 2022. "Mdivi-1: A Promising Drug and Its Underlying Mechanisms in the Treatment of Neurodegenerative Diseases." *Histology and Histopathology* 37 (6): 505–12. https://doi.org/10.14670/HH-18-443.
- Livak, Kenneth J., and Thomas D. Schmittgen. 2001. "Analysis of Relative Gene Expression Data Using Real-Time Quantitative PCR and the 2–ΔΔCT Method." *Methods* 25 (4): 402–8. https://doi.org/10.1006/meth.2001.1262.
- Losón, Oliver C., Zhiyin Song, Hsiuchen Chen, and David C. Chan. 2013. "Fis1, Mff, MiD49, and MiD51 Mediate Drp1 Recruitment in Mitochondrial Fission." *Molecular Biology of the Cell* 24 (5): 659–67. https://doi.org/10.1091/mbc.e12-10-0721.
- Luchetti, Alessandra, Diego Oddi, Valentina Lampis, Eleonora Centofante, Armando Felsani, Marco Battaglia, and Francesca R. D'Amato. 2015. "Early Handling and Repeated Cross-Fostering Have Opposite Effect on Mouse Emotionality." *Frontiers in Behavioral Neuroscience* 9 (APR). https://doi.org/10.3389/fnbeh.2015.00093.
- Lucion, Aldo B, and Maria Cátira Bortolini. 2014. "Mother-Pup Interactions: Rodents and Humans." Frontiers in Endocrinology 5: 17. https://doi.org/10.3389/fendo.2014.00017.
- Lupien, Sonia J., Bruce S. McEwen, Megan R. Gunnar, and Christine Heim. 2009. "Effects of Stress throughout the Lifespan on the Brain, Behaviour and Cognition." *Nature Reviews Neuroscience* 10 (6): 434–45. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn2639.
- Ly, Cindy V., and Patrik Verstreken. 2006. "Mitochondria at the Synapse." *Neuroscientist*. https://doi.org/10.1177/1073858406287661.
- Ma, Ruining, Lina Ma, Weiji Weng, Yingping Wang, Huiqing Liu, Rongjun Guo, Yingwei Gao, et al.
   2020. "DUSP6 SUMOylation Protects Cells from Oxidative Damage via Direct Regulation of Drp1 Dephosphorylation." *Science Advances* 6 (13).
   https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.aaz0361.

Maccoby, Eleanor E. 2000. "Parenting and Its Effects on Children: On Reading and Misreading Behavior Genetics." *Annual Review of Psychology* 51 (1): 1–27. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.psych.51.1.1.

- Madruga, Clarice, Léder Xavier, Matilde Achaval, Gilberto L. Sanvitto, and Aldo B. Lucion. 2006. "Early Handling, but Not Maternal Separation, Decreases Emotional Responses in Two Paradigms of Fear without Changes in Mesolimbic Dopamine." *Behavioural Brain Research* 166 (2): 241–46. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbr.2005.08.005.
- Magi, Barbara, Anna Ettorre, Sabrina Liberatori, Luca Bini, Marco Andreassi, Simona Frosali, Paolo
   Neri, Vitaliano Pallini, and Anna Di Stefano. 2004. "Selectivity of Protein Carbonylation in the Apoptotic Response to Oxidative Stress Associated with Photodynamic Therapy: A
   Cell Biochemical and Proteomic Investigation." *Cell Death & Differentiation* 11 (8): 842–52. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.cdd.4401427.
- Malave, Lauren, Milenna T. van Dijk, and Christoph Anacker. 2022. "Early Life Adversity Shapes Neural Circuit Function during Sensitive Postnatal Developmental Periods." *Translational Psychiatry* 12 (1): 306. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41398-022-02092-9.
- Matsuda, Satoru, Yasuko Kitagishi, and Mayumi Kobayashi. 2013. "Function and Characteristics of PINK1 in Mitochondria." *Oxidative Medicine and Cellular Longevity* 2013: 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1155/2013/601587.
- McCoy, Chelsea R., Samir Rana, Sara Anne Stringfellow, Jeremy J. Day, J. Michael Wyss, Sarah M.
   Clinton, and Ilan A. Kerman. 2016. "Neonatal Maternal Separation Stress Elicits Lasting
   DNA Methylation Changes in the Hippocampus of Stress-Reactive Wistar Kyoto Rats."
   European Journal of Neuroscience 44 (10): 2829–45. https://doi.org/10.1111/ejn.13404.
- McEwen, Bruce S, Carla Nasca, and Jason D Gray. 2016. "Stress Effects on Neuronal Structure: Hippocampus, Amygdala, and Prefrontal Cortex." *Neuropsychopharmacology* 41 (1): 3–23. https://doi.org/10.1038/npp.2015.171.
- Meaney, Michael J., Josie Diorio, Darlene Francis, Judith Widdowson, Patricia LaPlante, Christian Caldji, Shakti Sharma, Jonathan R. Seckl, and Paul M. Plotsky. 1996. "Early Environmental Regulation of Forebrain Glucocorticoid Receptor Gene Expression: Implications for

Adrenocortical Responses to Stress; Pp. 49–60." *Developmental Neuroscience* 18 (1–2): 49–60. https://doi.org/10.1159/000111395.

- Merre, Pierre Le, Sofie Ährlund-Richter, and Marie Carlén. 2021. "The Mouse Prefrontal Cortex: Unity in Diversity." *Neuron*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2021.03.035.
- Meyer, Joel N., Tess C. Leuthner, and Anthony L. Luz. 2017. "Mitochondrial Fusion, Fission, and Mitochondrial Toxicity." *Toxicology* 391 (November): 42–53. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tox.2017.07.019.
- Miller, Karl N., Josef P. Clark, and Rozalyn M. Anderson. 2019. "Mitochondrial Regulator PGC-1a-Modulating the Modulator." *Current Opinion in Endocrine and Metabolic Research* 5 (March): 37–44. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.coemr.2019.02.002.
- Mishra, Prashant, and David C. Chan. 2014. "Mitochondrial Dynamics and Inheritance during Cell Division, Development and Disease." *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology*. Nature Publishing Group. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm3877.
- Möhler, Hanns. 2012. "The GABA System in Anxiety and Depression and Its Therapeutic Potential." *Neuropharmacology* 62 (1): 42–53. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropharm.2011.08.040.
- Mokranjac, Dejana, and Walter Neupert. 2010. "The Many Faces of the Mitochondrial TIM23 Complex." *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Bioenergetics* 1797 (6–7): 1045–54. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbabio.2010.01.026.
- Morava, Éva, and Tamás Kozicz. 2013. "Mitochondria and the Economy of Stress (Mal)Adaptation." *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews* 37 (4): 668–80. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2013.02.005.
- Morella, Ilaria M., Riccardo Brambilla, and Lorenzo Morè. 2022. "Emerging Roles of Brain Metabolism in Cognitive Impairment and Neuropsychiatric Disorders." *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews* 142 (November): 104892. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2022.104892.
- Morris, Christopher J., Daniel Aeschbach, and Frank A.J.L. Scheer. 2012. "Circadian System, Sleep and Endocrinology." *Molecular and Cellular Endocrinology* 349 (1): 91–104. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mce.2011.09.003.

Munter, Johannes de, Dmitrii Pavlov, Anna Gorlova, Michael Sicker, Andrey Proshin, Allan V. Kalueff, Andrey Svistunov, et al. 2021. "Increased Oxidative Stress in the Prefrontal Cortex as a Shared Feature of Depressive- and PTSD-Like Syndromes: Effects of a Standardized Herbal Antioxidant." *Frontiers in Nutrition* 8 (April). https://doi.org/10.3389/fnut.2021.661455.

- Murphy, Michael P., and Richard C. Hartley. 2018. "Mitochondria as a Therapeutic Target for Common Pathologies." *Nature Reviews Drug Discovery* 17 (12): 865–86. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrd.2018.174.
- Nasir, Madeeha, Daniel Trujillo, Jessica Levine, Jennifer B. Dwyer, Zachary W. Rupp, and Michael H. Bloch. 2020. "Glutamate Systems in DSM-5 Anxiety Disorders: Their Role and a Review of Glutamate and GABA Psychopharmacology." *Frontiers in Psychiatry* 11 (November). https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2020.548505.
- Neumann, Inga D., and Rainer Landgraf. 2012. "Balance of Brain Oxytocin and Vasopressin: Implications for Anxiety, Depression, and Social Behaviors." *Trends in Neurosciences*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tins.2012.08.004.
- Nussbaumer, Markus, John M Asara, Larysa Teplytska, Michael P Murphy, Angela Logan, Christoph W Turck, and Michaela D Filiou. 2016. "Selective Mitochondrial Targeting Exerts Anxiolytic Effects In Vivo." *Neuropsychopharmacology* 41 (7): 1751–58. https://doi.org/10.1038/npp.2015.341.
- Ojaimi, Mode Al, Azza Salah, and Ayman W. El-Hattab. 2022. "Mitochondrial Fission and Fusion: Molecular Mechanisms, Biological Functions, and Related Disorders." *Membranes* 12 (9): 893. https://doi.org/10.3390/membranes12090893.
- Palmer, Claire L, Lucy Cotton, and Jeremy M Henley. 2005. "The Molecular Pharmacology and Cell Biology of Alpha-Amino-3-Hydroxy-5-Methyl-4-Isoxazolepropionic Acid Receptors." *Pharmacological Reviews* 57 (2): 253–77. https://doi.org/10.1124/pr.57.2.7.
- Papadopoulou, Zoe, Angeliki-Maria Vlaikou, Daniela Theodoridou, Georgios S. Markopoulos, Konstantina Tsoni, Eleni Agakidou, Vasiliki Drosou-Agakidou, Christoph W. Turck, Michaela D. Filiou, and Maria Syrrou. 2019. "Stressful Newborn Memories: Pre-

Conceptual, In Utero, and Postnatal Events." *Frontiers in Psychiatry* 10 (April). https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2019.00220.

- Patki, Gaurav, Naimesh Solanki, Fatin Atrooz, Farida Allam, and Samina Salim. 2013. "Depression, Anxiety-like Behavior and Memory Impairment Are Associated with Increased Oxidative Stress and Inflammation in a Rat Model of Social Stress." *Brain Research* 1539 (November): 73–86. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainres.2013.09.033.
- Paxinos George, and Frankin Keath B. G. 2001. *The Mouse Brain in Stereotaxic Cordinates*. Second. Academic press.
- Pei, Liming, and Douglas C. Wallace. 2018. "Mitochondrial Etiology of Neuropsychiatric Disorders." *Biological Psychiatry* 83 (9): 722–30. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2017.11.018.
- Perivolidi, Vasiliki-Iris, Foteini Violitzi, Elisavet Ioannidou, Vagelis Rinotas, George Stamatakis, Martina Samiotaki, George Panayotou, and Eleni Douni. 2022. "Proteomic Identification of the SLC25A46 Interactome in Transgenic Mice Expressing SLC25A46-FLAG." Journal of Proteome Research 21 (2): 375–94. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jproteome.1c00728.
- Picard, Martin, and Bruce S. McEwen. 2018. "Psychological Stress and Mitochondria: A Systematic Review." *Psychosomatic Medicine* 80 (2): 141–53. https://doi.org/10.1097/PSY.00000000000545.
- Picard, Martin, Bruce S. McEwen, Elissa S. Epel, and Carmen Sandi. 2018. "An Energetic View of Stress: Focus on Mitochondria." *Frontiers in Neuroendocrinology*. Academic Press Inc. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yfrne.2018.01.001.
- Pingault, Jean-Baptiste, and Jacques Goldberg. 2008. "Stratégies Reproductives, Soin Parental et Lien Parent-Progéniture Dans Le Monde Animal." *Devenir* Vol. 20 (3): 249–74. https://doi.org/10.3917/dev.083.0249.
- Popov, Lucia-Doina. 2020. "Mitochondrial Biogenesis: An Update." *Journal of Cellular and Molecular Medicine* 24 (9): 4892–99. https://doi.org/10.1111/jcmm.15194.

- Pryce, Christopher R., Daniela Bettschen, and Joram Feldon. 2001. "Comparison of the Effects of Early Handling and Early Deprivation on Maternal Care in the Rat." *Developmental Psychobiology* 38 (4): 239–51. https://doi.org/10.1002/dev.1018.
- Pryce, Christopher R., and Joram Feldon. 2003. "Long-Term Neurobehavioural Impact of the Postnatal Environment in Rats: Manipulations, Effects and Mediating Mechanisms." In *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews*, 27:57–71. Elsevier Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0149-7634(03)00009-5.
- Pryce, Christopher R., Daniela Rüedi-Bettschen, Andrea C. Dettling, Anna Weston, Holger Russig,
   Boris Ferger, and Joram Feldon. 2005. "Long-Term Effects of Early-Life Environmental
   Manipulations in Rodents and Primates: Potential Animal Models in Depression
   Research." Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews.
   https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2005.03.011.
- Qian, Shanna, Wei Zhong, Yang Wanting, Huang Jinling, Yang Yinfeng, Wang Jinghui. 2022 "The role of BCL-2 family proteins in regulating apoptosis and cancer therapy." *Frontiers in oncology*, (12). https://doi.org/10.3389/fonc.2022.985363
- Quintana-Cabrera, Rubén, and Luca Scorrano. 2023. "Determinants and Outcomes of Mitochondrial Dynamics." *Molecular Cell*, March. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2023.02.012.
- Raineki, Charlis, Aldo B. Lucion, and Joanne Weinberg. 2014. "Neonatal Handling: An Overview of the Positive and Negative Effects." *Developmental Psychobiology*. John Wiley and Sons Inc. https://doi.org/10.1002/dev.21241.
- Ramos, Milagros, Beatriz Pardo, Irene Llorente-Folch, Takeyori Saheki, Araceli del Arco, and Jorgina Satrústegui. 2011. "Deficiency of the Mitochondrial Transporter of Aspartate/Glutamate Aralar/AGC1 Causes Hypomyelination and Neuronal Defects Unrelated to Myelin Deficits in Mouse Brain." *Journal of Neuroscience Research* 89 (12): 2008–17. https://doi.org/10.1002/jnr.22639.
- Ratnam, D. Venkat, Dhawal D. Ankola, Vivekanand Bhardwaj, D.K. Sahana, and Mukesh N.V. Ravi Kumar. 2006. "Role of Antioxidants in Prophylaxis and Therapy: A Pharmaceutical

Perspective." Journal of Controlled Release 113 (3): 189–207. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2006.04.015.

- Reis, Adolfo R.Márcia S. de Azevedo, Marselo A. de Souza, Maiara L. Lutz, Marcio B. Alves, Iván Izquierdo, Martin Cammarota, Patricia P. Silveira, and Aldo B. Lucion. 2014. "Neonatal Handling Alters the Structure of Maternal Behavior and Affects Mother–Pup Bonding." *Behavioural Brain Research* 265 (May): 216–28. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbr.2014.02.036.
- Ressler, Kerry J. 2010. "Amygdala Activity, Fear, and Anxiety: Modulation by Stress." *Biological Psychiatry* 67 (12): 1117–19. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2010.04.027.
- Riaza Bermudo-Soriano, Carlos, M. Mercedes Perez-Rodriguez, Concepcion Vaquero-Lorenzo, and Enrique Baca-Garcia. 2012. "New Perspectives in Glutamate and Anxiety." *Pharmacology Biochemistry and Behavior* 100 (4): 752–74. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pbb.2011.04.010.
- Ridout, Kathryn K., Jesse L. Coe, Stephanie H. Parade, Carmen J. Marsit, Hung-Teh Kao, Barbara
   Porton, Linda L. Carpenter, Lawrence H. Price, and Audrey R. Tyrka. 2020. "Molecular
   Markers of Neuroendocrine Function and Mitochondrial Biogenesis Associated with Early
   Life Stress." *Psychoneuroendocrinology* 116 (June): 104632.
   https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psyneuen.2020.104632.
- Rigoulet, Michel, Cyrielle L. Bouchez, Patrick Paumard, Stéphane Ransac, Sylvain Cuvellier,
   Stéphane Duvezin-Caubet, Jean Pierre Mazat, and Anne Devin. 2020. "Cell Energy
   Metabolism: An Update." *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) Bioenergetics* 1861
   (11): 148276. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbabio.2020.148276.
- Royo, Maria, Beatriz Aznar Escolano, M. Pilar Madrigal, and Sandra Jurado. 2022. "AMPA Receptor Function in Hypothalamic Synapses." *Frontiers in Synaptic Neuroscience* 14 (January). https://doi.org/10.3389/fnsyn.2022.833449.
- Rozeske, Robert R., Stefane Valerio, Fabrice Chaudun, and Cyril Herry. 2015. "Prefrontal Neuronal Circuits of Contextual Fear Conditioning." *Genes, Brain and Behavior*. https://doi.org/10.1111/gbb.12181.

- Schindler, Stephanie, Stefan Geyer, Maria Strauß, Alfred Anwander, Ulrich Hegerl, Robert Turner, and Peter Schönknecht. 2012. "Structural Studies of the Hypothalamus and Its Nuclei in Mood Disorders." *Psychiatry Research: Neuroimaging* 201 (1): 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pscychresns.2011.06.005.
- Schmitt, Karen, Amandine Grimm, Robert Dallmann, Bjoern Oettinghaus, Lisa Michelle Restelli, Melissa Witzig, Naotada Ishihara, et al. 2018. "Circadian Control of DRP1 Activity Regulates Mitochondrial Dynamics and Bioenergetics." *Cell Metabolism* 27 (3): 657-666.e5. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2018.01.011.
- Schneeberger, Marc, Ramon Gomis, and Marc Claret. 2014. "Hypothalamic and Brainstem Neuronal Circuits Controlling Homeostatic Energy Balance." *Journal of Endocrinology* 220 (2): T25– 46. https://doi.org/10.1530/JOE-13-0398.
- Schuettpelz, Jana, Alexandre Janer, Hana Antonicka, and Eric A Shoubridge. 2023. "The Role of the Mitochondrial Outer Membrane Protein SLC25A46 in Mitochondrial Fission and Fusion." *Life Science Alliance* 6 (6): e202301914. https://doi.org/10.26508/lsa.202301914.
- Seamans, Jeremy K, Christopher C. Lapish, and Daniel Durstewitz. 2008. "Comparing the Prefrontal Cortex of Rats and Primates: Insights from Electrophysiology." *Neurotoxicity Research* 14 (2–3): 249–62. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF03033814.
- Signes, Alba, and Erika Fernandez-Vizarra. 2018. "Assembly of Mammalian Oxidative Phosphorylation Complexes I–V and Supercomplexes." *Essays in Biochemistry* 62 (3): 255–70. https://doi.org/10.1042/EBC20170098.
- Silveira, Patricia P., Andre K. Portella, Zaira Clemente, Giovana D. Gamaro, and Carla Dalmaz. 2005. "The Effect of Neonatal Handling on Adult Feeding Behavior Is Not an Anxiety-like Behavior." International Journal of Developmental Neuroscience 23 (1): 93–99. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijdevneu.2004.07.018.
- Slominski, Radomir M., Robert C. Tuckey, Pulak R. Manna, Anton M. Jetten, Arnold Postlethwaite, Chander Raman, and Andrzej T. Slominski. 2020. "Extra-Adrenal Glucocorticoid Biosynthesis: Implications for Autoimmune and Inflammatory Disorders." *Genes & Immunity* 21 (3): 150–68. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41435-020-0096-6.

- Smith, Bryan J. n.d. "SDS Polyacrylamide Gel Electrophoresis of Proteins." In *Proteins*, 41–56. New Jersey: Humana Press. https://doi.org/10.1385/0-89603-062-8:41.
- Smith, Robin A.J., and Michael P. Murphy. 2010. "Animal and Human Studies with the Mitochondria-Targeted Antioxidant MitoQ." Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences 1201 (1): 96– 103. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1749-6632.2010.05627.x.
- Spinelli, Jessica B, and Marcia C Haigis. 2018. "The Multifaceted Contributions of Mitochondria to Cellular Metabolism." *Nature Cell Biology* 20 (7): 745–54. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41556-018-0124-1.
- Splettstoesser, Wolf D., and Peter Schuff-Werner. 2002. "Oxidative Stress in Phagocytes??The Enemy Within?" *Microscopy Research and Technique* 57 (6): 441–55. https://doi.org/10.1002/jemt.10098.
- Srivastava, Rupali, Travis Faust, Adriana Ramos, Koko Ishizuka, and Akira Sawa. 2018. "Dynamic Changes of the Mitochondria in Psychiatric Illnesses: New Mechanistic Insights From Human Neuronal Models." *Biological Psychiatry* 83 (9): 751–60. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2018.01.007.
- Steimer, Thierry. 2002. "The Biology of Fear- and Anxiety-Related Behaviors." *Dialogues in Clinical Neuroscience* 4 (3): 231–49.
- Steimer, Thierry. 2011. "Animal Models of Anxiety Disorders in Rats and Mice: Some Conceptual Issues." *Dialogues in Clinical Neuroscience* 13 (4): 495–506. https://doi.org/10.31887/DCNS.2011.13.4/tsteimer.
- Stevenson, Carl W., John P. Meredith, Clare H. Spicer, Rob Mason, and Charles A. Marsden. 2009.
   "Early Life Programming of Innate Fear and Fear Learning in Adult Female Rats."
   Behavioural Brain Research 198 (1): 51–57. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbr.2008.10.021.
- Tait, Stephen W. G., and Douglas R. Green. 2012. "Mitochondria and Cell Signalling." *Journal of Cell Science* 125 (4): 807–15. https://doi.org/10.1242/jcs.099234.
- Takagi, Yu, Yuki Sakai, Yoshinari Abe, Seiji Nishida, Ben J. Harrison, Ignacio Martínez-Zalacaín, Carles Soriano-Mas, Jin Narumoto, and Saori C. Tanaka. 2018. "A Common Brain Network

among State, Trait, and Pathological Anxiety from Whole-Brain Functional Connectivity." *NeuroImage* 172 (May): 506–16. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2018.01.080.

- Tan, Chuen Seng, Agus Salim, Alexander Ploner, Janne Lehtiö, Kee Seng Chia, and Yudi Pawitan.
   2009. "Correlating Gene and Protein Expression Data Using Correlated Factor Analysis."
   BMC Bioinformatics 10 (1): 272. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2105-10-272.
- Tannenholz, Lindsay, Jessica C. Jimenez, and Mazen A. Kheirbek. 2014. "Local and Regional Heterogeneity Underlying Hippocampal Modulation of Cognition and Mood." Frontiers in Behavioral Neuroscience 8 (May). https://doi.org/10.3389/fnbeh.2014.00147.
- Taschetto Vey, Luciana, Higor Zuquetto Rosa, Raquel Cristine Silva Barcelos, Verônica Tironi Dias,
  Maria Izabel Ugalde Marques da Rocha, and Marilise Escobar Burger. 2020. "Neonatal
  Handling Increases Neurogenesis, BDNF and GR in the Hippocampus Favoring Memory
  Acquisition in Rats." *Brain Research* 1745 (October): 146921.
  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainres.2020.146921.
- Tilokani, Lisa, Shun Nagashima, Vincent Paupe, and Julien Prudent. 2018. "Mitochondrial Dynamics: Overview of Molecular Mechanisms." *Essays in Biochemistry*. Portland Press Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1042/EBC20170104.
- Tyrka, Audrey R., Stephanie H. Parade, Lawrence H. Price, Hung-Teh Kao, Barbara Porton, Noah S. Philip, Emma S. Welch, and Linda L. Carpenter. 2016. "Alterations of Mitochondrial DNA Copy Number and Telomere Length With Early Adversity and Psychopathology." *Biological Psychiatry* 79 (2): 78–86. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2014.12.025.
- Vallée, Monique, Willy Mayo, Françoise Dellu, Michel Le Moal, Hervé Simon, and Stefania Maccari. 1997. "Prenatal Stress Induces High Anxiety and Postnatal Handling Induces Low Anxiety in Adult Offspring: Correlation with Stress-Induced Corticosterone Secretion." *The Journal* of Neuroscience 17 (7): 2626–36. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.17-07-02626.1997.
- Welsh, Gavin I., Clive Wilson, and Christopher G. Proud. 1996. "GSK3: A SHAGGY Frog Story." *Trends in Cell Biology* 6 (7): 274–79. https://doi.org/10.1016/0962-8924(96)10023-4.

- Wiegand, Georg, and Stephen J. Remington. 1986. "CITRATE SYNTHASE: Structure, Control, and Mechanism." *Annual Review of Biophysics and Biophysical Chemistry* 15 (1): 97–117. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.bb.15.060186.000525.
- Winkelmann-Duarte, Elisa C., Camila B. Padilha-Hoffmann, Daniel F. Martins, Artur F. S. Schuh,
   Marilda C. Fernandes, Ricardo Santin, Suelen Merlo, Gilberto L. Sanvitto, and Aldo B.
   Lucion. 2011. "Early-Life Environmental Intervention May Increase the Number of
   Neurons, Astrocytes, and Cellular Proliferation in the Hippocampus of Rats." *Experimental Brain Research* 215 (2): 163–72. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00221-011-2881-y.
- Xian, Hongxu, and Yih-Cherng Liou. 2021. "Functions of Outer Mitochondrial Membrane Proteins: Mediating the Crosstalk between Mitochondrial Dynamics and Mitophagy." Cell Death & Differentiation 28 (3): 827–42. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41418-020-00657-z.
- Yao, Fang, Kaoyuan Zhang, Chengyun Feng, Yan Gao, Liming Shen, Xukun Liu, and Jiazuan Ni. 2021.
   "Protein Biomarkers of Autism Spectrum Disorder Identified by Computational and Experimental Methods." *Frontiers in Psychiatry* 12 (February). https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2021.554621.
- Yapa, Nethmi M.B., Valerie Lisnyak, Boris Reljic, and Michael T. Ryan. 2021. "Mitochondrial Dynamics in Health and Disease." *FEBS Letters* 595 (8): 1184–1204. https://doi.org/10.1002/1873-3468.14077.
- Youle, Richard J., and Alexander M. van der Bliek. 2012. "Mitochondrial Fission, Fusion, and Stress." Science 337 (6098): 1062–65. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1219855.
- Youle, Richard J., and Mariusz Karbowski. 2005. "Mitochondrial Fission in Apoptosis." *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology* 6 (8): 657–63. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm1697.

 Yu, Daliang, Yingying Zha, Zheng Zhong, Yiming Ruan, Ziwei Li, Lili Sun, and Sen Hou. 2021.
 "Improved Detection of Reactive Oxygen Species by DCFH-DA: New Insight into Self-Amplification of Fluorescence Signal by Light Irradiation." Sensors and Actuators B: Chemical 339 (July): 129878. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.snb.2021.129878.
- Zacharioudakis, Emmanouil, and Evripidis Gavathiotis. 2022. "Mitochondrial Dynamics Proteins as Emerging Drug Targets." *Trends in Pharmacological Sciences*, December. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tips.2022.11.004.
- Zemla, Roland, and Jayeeta Basu. 2017. "Hippocampal Function in Rodents." *Current Opinion in Neurobiology* 43 (April): 187–97. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.conb.2017.04.005.
- Zhang, Yaoyang, Michaela D. Filiou, Stefan Reckow, Philipp Gormanns, Giuseppina Maccarrone,
  Melanie S. Kessler, Elisabeth Frank, et al. 2011. "Proteomic and Metabolomic Profiling of a
  Trait Anxiety Mouse Model Implicate Affected Pathways." *Molecular & Cellular Proteomics* 10 (12): M111.008110. https://doi.org/10.1074/mcp.M111.008110.
- Zhou, Hao, Jun Ren, Sam Toan, and David Mui. 2021. "Role of Mitochondrial Quality Surveillance in Myocardial Infarction: From Bench to Bedside." *Ageing Research Reviews* 66 (March): 101250. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.arr.2020.101250.
- Zitkovsky, Emily K., Teresa E. Daniels, and Audrey R. Tyrka. 2021. "Mitochondria and Early-Life Adversity." *Mitochondrion* 57 (March): 213–21. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mito.2021.01.005.
- Zorzano, Antonio, and Marc Claret. 2015. "Implications of Mitochondrial Dynamics on Neurodegeneration and on Hypothalamic Dysfunction" 7 (June): 1–17. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnagi.2015.00101.